Private Lives - Public Issues

An Investigation into the Health Status of Female Drug Users

by Marie Lawless

(This report was written and compiled during 2002)

Acknowledgements

Merchants Quay Ireland is indebted to all clients who agreed to participate in the research study and gave so generously of their time and enthusiasm.

Dr. Maureen Brennan for undertaking the medical assessments and investigative tests required for the research project.

Margaret O'Sullivan who assisted Dr. Brennan in undertaking the assessments, and also gave so much in terms of preparing and maintaining the operational features of the Project.

Staff of the Health Promotion Unit, especially Ray McGrath (Service Manager) and Linda Cox (Project Worker) for their role in the development and progress of the research project.

Denise O'Mahoney of Cedar House Primary Health Care Service who offered advice and support within the initial stages of the Project.

Staff in the Pathology Department of St. James Street Hospital especially Professor Rory O' Moore and Dr. White (Senior Laboratory Technician) who facilitated us so agreeably with our research study.

Liam English of the Microbiology Department in St. James Street Hospital for providing advice and assistance regarding the clinical aspects of the study.

To the numerous general practitioners in the area who facilitated us in providing follow-up care of the female clients who participated in the research study.

Frank Mills, Director of Social Inclusion for the SWAHB for his support and co-operation.

Dr. Gemma Cox who was involved in the designing of the research proposal.

The research was made possible with the financial support received from the Health Research Board.



Table of Contents

List	of Tables and Figures	6
For	eword	8
Exe	cutive Summary	9
Cha	pter One - Introduction	15
1.1	Background to the Stud)	15
1.2	Objectives of the Study	15
1.3	Plan of Investigation	15
	1.3.1 Setting	15 16
1.4	1.3.2 Exploratory Activities Method of Investigation	16
1.4	Project Delivery	17
	1.5.1 Planning Phase	17
	1.5.2 Implementation Phase	17
1.6	Structure of the Report	18
Cha	pter Two - Review of Literature	19
2.1	Drug Use in Ireland	19
2.2	Drug Use and Gender	19
2.3	Injecting Risk Behaviour and Gender	21
2.4	Sexual Risk Behaviour and Gender	21
2.5	Health Issues of Female Drug Users	22
2.6	Use of Health Services	24
2.7	Drug Policy and Gender	25
2.8	Summary and Conclusion	26
Cha	pter Three - Research Methodology	27
3.1	Researching Women	27
3.2	Measuring Health	27
3.3	Combining Methodologies	28
3.4	Data Collection	29
	3.4.1 Focus Group	29
	3.4.2 H ealth In form at i on F orm	30
	3.4.3 Semi-structured Interviews	30
	3.4.4 Medical Assessment Form	31



25	Dete Applicie	21
3.5 3.6	Data Analysis Summers and Conclusion	31 31
5.0	Summary and Conclusion	51
Ch	apter Four - Client Profile	32
	Introduction	
4.1		32
4.2	Socio-Demographic Information 4.2.1 Age	32 32
	4.2.1 Age 4.2.2 Home Circumstances	32 33
	4.2.3 Child-Care Responsibilities	33 34
4.3	Drug Use	34
4.5	4.3.1 Drug Using History	34
	4.3.2 Current Drug Use	35
	4.3.3 Prescribed Medication	37
4.4	Drug Using Risk Behaviour	38
	4.4.1 Injecting Risk Behaviour	38
4.5	Sexual Risk Behaviour	39
4.6	Summary and Conclusion	41
Cha	apter Five - Self-Reported Health Complaints	
Cine	& Contact with Medical Services	42
F 1		
5.1	Subjective Health Assessment	42 42
	5.1.1 General Health5.1.2 Psychological Health	42
	5.1.3 Perceived Health Status	43
5.2	Drug Related Problems- Technique Specific	44
5.3	Blood Borne Infections	45
5.5	5.3.1 Hepatitis B/C	46
	5.3.2 HIV	48
5.4	Medical Contact	49
	5.4.1 Access to Medical Services	49
	5.4.2 Contact with Medical Services "	50
	5.4.3 Experience of Medical Services	51
	5.4.4 Medical Sources of References	51
5.5	Summary and Conclusion	53
Cha	pter Six - The Medical Intervention	54
6.1	Level of Participation	54
6.2	Medical Assessment	55
	6.2.1 History/Present Illness	56
	6.2.2 Surgical History	56
	6.2.3 Review of Systems	57
	6.2.4 Gynecological Issues	58
6.3	Investigative Screening Tests	59



6.4	Evaluating the Intervention	61
	6.4.1 Service Environmeni	61
	6.4.2 Service Delivery	62
	6.4.2.1 Examples or Interventions	63
	6.4.3 Women's Health Project- Raising Awareness	64
6.5	Summary and Conclusion	66
Cha	apter Seven - Conclusion and Recommendations	67
Bib	liography and Further Reading	70



List of Tables and Figures

Tables

4.1	Accommodation Type of Clients	33
4.2	Secondary Drugs Used	36
4.3	Prescribed Methadone	36
4.4	Frequency of Use of Prescribed Medication	37
4.5	Injecting Sites	38
4.6	Problems Finding Injecting Sites	39
5.1	Self-Reported Health Complaints	43
5.2	Self-Reported Psychological Complaints	44
5.3	Perceived Physical Health Status	44
5.4	Perceived Changes in Health Status	44
5.5	Self-Reported Injecting-Related Complaints	45
5.6	Length of Time Since Last Hepatitis Testing	46
5.7	Hepatitis (B and C) and Jaundice	46
5.8	Length of Time Since Last HIV Test	48
5.9	Registered with a G.P Anywhere	49
5.10	Medical Card	49
5.11	Contact With Medical Services within 3 Months	50
5.12	Source of Consultation on Health Issues	52
5.13	Source of Information on Health Issues	52
6.1	Frequency of Attendance by Clients	54
6.2	Type of Follow-Up Intervention	55
6.3	Personal/Family Experience of Diagnostic Health Complaints	56
6.4	Review of Systems	57
6.5	Body Mass Index	58
6.6	Gynecological Complaints	58
6.7	Laboratory Tests Undertaken	60
6.8	Positive Test Results	61
Linu		
Figu	res	
4.1	Age of Clients	32
4.2	Housing Status of Clients	33
4.3	Maternal Status of Clients	34
4.4	Age of First Injecting	35
4.5	Primary Drug of Use	35
4.6	Prescribed Medication	37



4.7	Injecting Status of Clients	39
4.8	Sexual Behaviour of Clients	39
4.9	Use of Contraception	40
4.10	Experience of STJ's	40
5.1	Fiver Tested for Hepatitis	46
5.2	Vaccination for Hepatitis B	48
5.3	Ever Tested for HIV	48
6.1	Anaemia Among Female Clienls	60

14.75



Foreword

Profiles of individuals who engage in 'problem' drug use have been widely documented as exhibiting low educational attainment, high levels of previous imprisonment, poor social mobility and limited employment opportunities. Similarly, research studies have illustrated the influence of social class on equity of access to and utilisation of health services. By virtue of their drug using behaviour, drug users are at increased risk of acquiring a diverse range of medical complaints than those of the general population. This is further compounded by the fact that their chaotic drug using lifestyles can often pose difficulties when seeking help from within the structures of the medical setting. Although there is a widely held belief that drug users are frequent attendees of the health services, such visits are often reactive to certain circumstances (such as A&E attendance) rather than on a routinely medical care basis.

Consequently, the direct care of these individuals is increasingly placed within the drug treatment setting. It is often the case that drug users' only source of regular contact are with drug services, and as such provide, in some instances, the only feasible option for the drug user. In this regard' drug services are increasingly being placed in a position to respond to various health care needs of their clients. While such activities are essential, few drug service providers are equipped with the expertise and resources with which to undertake this task.

Strategies to encourage greater utilisation of health care services among drug users can only be successful if consideration is given to their individual health needs and circumstances. This action, research project has therefore provided an opportunity to investigate the health status of female drug users, which in the past, have been restricted to studies on drug use and pregnancy. This study entailed the establishment of a Women's Clinic over an eight-week period in which detailed medical assessments were undertaken by a female gynecologist with a cohort of female drug users who were regular attendees of the Contact Centre. This information was complemented by clients' self-reported data on their current health status and previous medical health complaints.

The establishment of a Women's Clinic within the Contact Centre of Merchants Quay Ireland, proved highly successful in initiating medical interventions on numerous levels. For the female drug user, it provided a supportive environment in which to share health concerns, be informed, and in some cases, the means to overcome previous negative experiences within a convenient and highly familiar setting. For Merchants Quay Ireland, a drug service provider, it developed important partnerships with a range of medical services in the locality. On a national level, it affirmed the need for adequate, appropriate and direct access of health services for those who are in greatest need of such interventions.



Executive Summary

In 1992, a Health Promotion Unit was set up within Merchants Quay Ireland to provide a model for working with people who engage in both injecting and sexual risk behaviour. In 1997, it was decided to undertake an evaluation of the Health Promotion Unit during an eighteen-month period from May 1997 to October 1998. One of the main findings of this evaluative research, highlighted that despite the shorter injecting careers of female drug users, new female presenters were significantly more likely to report suffering from a range of physical and mental health complaints than their male drug using counterparts (Cox and Lawless, 2000).

Based on these findings, a submission was made under the Research Project Grants Scheme to the Health Research Board, which was subsequently accepted. This proposal set out to examine the health status of female drug users by undertaking detailed medical assessments in addition to collecting self-reported information. In order to carry out the research, a Womens Health Project was established in November 2001 for an eight-week period in the Contact Centre of the Merchants Quay Ireland. The Project opened one morning a week and operated on a drop-in basis. All participating women were offered a thorough medical examination, smear tests, Hepatitis B/C, HIV, and STI testing, in addition to advice and information and appropriate referrals.

Research Objectives

As stated above, the aim of this pilot project was to examine in detail the health status of female drug users. More specifically, the study proposed to;

- (a) Provide a detailed medical assessment of the health status of female drug users;
- (b) Examine the use of primary health care services by female drug users and to;
- (c) Assess the health care needs of female drug users.

Research Methodology

Both qualitative and quantitative methodologies were used at different stages to investigate the health status of female drug users. The main advantage of combining both quantitative and qualitative methodologies is that it allows a collection of different types of information (Pawson and Tilley, 1997). In order to achieve the above objectives, data was collected by employing the following;

- t) A Focus Group was undertaken with a cohort of regular female injectors at the Contact Centre. This was undertaken to ascertain their levels of interest in the research project and based on their opinions to inform the design of the project prior to commencement.
- A Health Information Form was administered by a member of the research department to all female clients prior to their medical assessment. This form collected data on socio-demographic information, injecting and sexual risk behaviour and in addition provided self-reported information on female clients' health status and levels of contact with medical services.



- Semi-Structured Interviews were undertaken by a member of the research team with all consenting clients following completion of the health information form. These interviews provided an opportunity to gain an in-depth understanding of the women's perceptions of their health status and to examine their experience of primary health care services. Interviews were also conducted with all the staff involved in the delivery of the Project upon its completion.
- A Medical Assessment Form was completed by the medical practitioner both during and upon completion of the consultation. Information recorded included details on the medical history of the client and that of their family, past surgical history, past gynecological history, current medication, known allergies to medication, a general medical assessment including a review of systems and any laboratory tests undertaken in addition to follow-up and referral arrangements.

Research Findings

Summary of Results					
Client Profile (<i>n</i> =17)	 Socio-Demographic Information Over three quarters of the clients were under 30 years of age (n=14; 82%); mean age 26.7 years; 65% (n=11) reported being currently 'out of home'; Clients reported a mean of 2 children (range 1-4 children), with the majority reporting having child-care responsibilities; Drug Use and Risk Behaviour 88% (n=15) commenced their injecting careers prior to 25 years of age, with over a third reporting IV drug use before 20 years of age; Heroin was the primary drug of choice, with injecting the preferred route of administration for the majority of clients over the previous four weeks; 76% (n=13) were polydrug users; 76% (n=13) were taking other prescribed medication excluding methadone, of whom 76% were taking this medication in excess of three months (n=6); Of those who injected, 36% (n=3) reported injecting in particularly dangerous places such as the groin and the neck; 47% (n=8) had a regular sexual partner who was an injecting drug user; Of those currently sexually active (n=10), only 30% (n=3) reported the use of contraception. 				



Physical Health Complaints

All clients reported having had at least one physical health complaint within the last week, with 94% (n=16) reporting a complaint for the last three months;

- 59% (n=10) reported sleep problems;
- 47% (n=8) reported shortness of breath;
- 41% (n=7) reported poor appetite;
- 41% (n=7) reported weight change;

Psychological Health Complaints

94% (n=16) of clients also reported having experienced at least one psychological health complaint within the last three months;

- 82% (n=14) reported depression;
- 65% [n=11] reported anxiety;
- 59% (n=10) reported feeling unable to cope;
- 56% (n=9) reported feeling isolated;

Perceived Health Status

- Only 12% (n=2) reported their health status as 'good' or 'very good';
- 41% (n=7) of clients reported their health as 'bad' or 'very bad';
- 47% [n=8] reported improved general health in comparison to a year previous;

Drug Related Problems - Technique Specific

Of those currently injecting, 67% reported having experienced at least one injecting related complaint, with 56% reporting a complaint over the previous 3 months;

- 45% reported scarring/bruising of the injecting site (n=5);
- 45% reported difficulty findings veins (n=5);
- 27% reported abscesses (n=3);

Blood Borne Infections

- 1 in 2 clients reported having previously being tested for Hep B and C;
- Only a minority reported ever having had hepatitis B (18%; n=3) or jaundice (12%; n=2);
- 65% [n=11] of female clients reported being hepatitis C positive at the time of interview;
- Disclosure of hepatitis status was often as a result of the clients' involvement with various other social services apart from medical services;
- Clients reported having limited information with regard to Hepatitis C;
- 65% [n=11] of clients reported having received the hepatitis B vaccination;
- 82% (n=14) of clients had previously being tested for HIV, the majority within the last twelve months (65%; n=9).



Self Reported Health Complaints

Medical Interventions (n=15)	 Evel of Participation 88% [n=15] of clients agreed to undertake the investigative screening assessment and tests; In total, 33 medical interventions were undertaken over the eight week period; There were 18 follow-up interventions undertaken by 11 clients; Medical Assessment 38% [n=6] of clients reported being asthmatic, 19% [n=3] were epileptic; 81% [n=13] of clients reported having ever being hospitalised; 23% [n=3] of these reported having been hospitalised as a result of suicide attempts in the past; 40% [n=6] of clients were noted to have abdominal abnormalities during the review, such as severe indentations and bruising as a result of injecting; Only 13% [n=2] of clients were underweight at the time of interview; Over half of the clients [42%, n=5] reported experiencing secondary amenorrhoea with a further 17% [n=2] reporting irregular menstruation; 33% of clients reported having had a spontaneous abortion in the recent past [n=4]; Investigative Screening Tests 87% [n=13] of clients hepatitis C [antibodies present]; 67% [n=13] had positive hepatitis B [antibodies present]; 20% [n=3] had abnormal liver tests; Only one client had a nabnormal cervical smear. No client had a positive HIV status.
Con Medic	 Access to Medical Services 29% [n=5] reported that they had experienced difficulties in accessing treatment in the past; 82% [n=14] were registered with a G.P. of whom only 47% [n=8] cited that their G.P was geographically accessible; Nearly a quarter [24%; n=4] reported that their medical card was 'out of date'; Level of Service Contact 77% [n=13] of clients reported having at least one contact with a medical service provider within the last three months; Level of contact with general practitioner and pharmacist was high however; this was due to high numbers in receipt of methadone and other prescribed medication; The majority of clients reported a lack of understanding and sensitivity among medical service providers. Medical Sources of Reference Clients were asked to report their most frequent source of medical consultation; Over a quarter of female clients reported that they would take care of the complaint themselves prior to presentation at a medical service provider [29%; n=5]; 24% [n=5] would attend their G.P as their first point of contact; 24% [n=13] would attend the A&E But into the clients reported frequently approaching various medical service and information; Less than a third of the clients reported frequently approaching various medical service providers [n=5]. Nearly a quarter of the clients reported drug services as their source of consultation [n=4]; 12% of clients reported having nowhere to obtain such information [n=2].



Recommendations

Developing Women Centered Interventions

- Gender differences in approaches to medical diagnosis, intervention and prevention must be examined and employed;
- Consulting women with regard to their health needs will help develop services which are appropriate to their needs and circumstances;
- In promoting positive health care practices the aim should be to maximise the health of the individual by creating a model to which drug users can relate. Health services, therefore, must be flexible and resourceful to adapt to the differing needs of this client group.

Providing a Continuum of Services

- Work on the basis of a comprehensive assessment of the women's situation and apply casespecific care and treatment planning techniques.
- Linked service model of care, whereby individual case files may be accessible by professionals, would ensure both continuity and follow-on care.
- Adopt a broader focus to health to include access to primary health care, reproductive health services, pre-natal care or behavioural health services.
- Develop a comprehensive hepatitis C strategy which focuses on raising awareness, preventative care and treatment options.
- Ensure provision of on-site counselling to deal specifically with psychiatric complaints
 among this client group.

Employing Health Promotion Strategies

- Routine regular contact with drug users should include running through a health checklist to increase early detection of medical complaints.
- Provide a wide range of health services in a local setting which are responsive to their needs and which are user-sensitive, culturally specific and readily available.
- Regular liaison and co-operation between drug, health and other social services to provide coordinated care and follow-up support for drug-using clients.

Increasing Access and Participation in Health Care Services

- Secure funding within all drug services to ensure that a Welfare Rights person is available to inform clients of their health entitlements.
- € Ensure that the process involved in the application of medical cards under the General Medical Scheme is made more user-friendly. In this regard, consideration should be given to reducing the tedious and time-consuming element of both applying for, and processing the card. Extending the expiry period of medical cards is also recommended.
- The provision of drugs awareness training, education and information to health care professionals who work with women who use drugs and drug users in general.
- Drug services should develop and employ specific outreach efforts to draw women into treatment or to direct them towards services that can cater for their overall health care needs.

Promoting Women's Health

- Ensure research findings and policy decisions are turned into effective women's health programmes.
- Develop and implement effective women's health polices and programmes at a local and national level.





Introduction

1.1 Background to the Study

A common theme within the literature is that women drag users are often a hidden or "hard to reach" population (Ettorre, 1992, DAWN, 1994) who experience a range of problems that differ substantially from those encountered by male drag users (Bubble and Woods, 1992; Taylor, 1993; Swfit *et al.*, 1996; Copeland, 1997). Most notably, female drag users complain of a range of medical and psychological problems more often, and to a greater extent than their male counterparts (Cox *et al.*, 1999). However, very little research have addressed the health care needs of the female drug user. Women who use drags find themselves largely invisible when it comes to appropriate service delivery and social policy responses. It is argued that service responses to women have been largely located within the context of HIV, following concerns over the spread of the infection through childbirth. Limiting the spread of HIV infection has therefore taken priority over the general health and well-being of women. Many women drag users also face difficulties in accessing drag treatment services due to social, economic and childcare responsibilities (Bubble and Woods, 1993; Woods, 1993; NIDA, 1998; Hunter and Judd, 1998; Swift and Copeland, 1998). Moreover, research has highlighted the perceived insensitivity of the drag treatment setting to cater for women specific problems (DAWN 1991, 1994; Thorn and Green, 1996). This pilot project which aims to investigate the health status of female drag users will help to ensure that both medical and drag service providers are responsive to some of the issues that are likely to be of importance for women who use drags.

1.2 Objectives of the Study

The aim of this pilot project is to examine in detail the health status of female drag users. More specifically, the study objectives are to;

- Provide a detailed medical assessment of the health status of injecting female drag users;
- # Examine the use of primary care health services by female drag users and to;
- S Assess the health care needs of female drag users.

1.3 Plan of Investigation

1.3.1 Setting

In order to undertake the above research objectives, it was decided to establish a Women's Health Project over an eight week period within the Contact Centre of Merchants Quay Ireland. This low threshold service was selected as it is often the first point of contact for active drag users which focuses on establishing contact, informal support, crisis intervention and health promotion. More importantly, data collected for monitoring purposes throughout Merchants Quay Ireland has shown that a consistent proportion of female attendees avail of this service on a regular basis. The services offered within the Women's Clinic were to include; a thorough medical examination, smear tests, STI, HIV and Hepatitis B/C testing, Hepatitis B vaccinations, and advice, information and referrals. Initially it was intended that this service would be best provided the morning the



service is closed for staff training, so as to allow for the fact that that many concerns of drug using women can not be adequately dealt with in mixed settings.

1.3.2 Exploratory Activities

The engagement of female drug users in the establishment of the Women's Clinic was considered to be of utmost importance from the onset. In this regard, a focus group was held with a cohort of female injecting drug users who presented at the Contact Centre of Merchants Quay Ireland, which ascertained their levels of interest in, as well as providing valuable feedback of certain operational features of the proposed project. Based on these findings, certain areas of concern were highlighted in addition to modifying elements of the Project prior to commencement. The main issues presented were;

Lack of clarity among female clients surrounding the intended role of the doctor. Many clients assumed that the main benefits of introducing a doctor within the Contact Centre would be the possibility of entry onto a methadone programme or the ability of the doctor to prescribe other medication. In view of this, it was decided that guidelines on the activities undertaken by the doctor had to be firmly established prior to commencement of the Project and made known to female clients. Additional meetings were therefore held in which the doctor's role in the Project was further clarified and which ultimately illustrated the investigative nature of the research as opposed to its curative role.

A large proportion of female clients reported having no current medical card. As a result, female clients reported that the expense involved often meant poor contact with health services. For those female clients who did report having a medical card, they were largely unaware whether their card was current or not. This was considered to be of utmost importance for the research study as due to its limited time frame, increased emphasis was to be placed on referring clients to specialised medical services following the medical assessment. In response, informational materials and posters were publicised throughout the Contact Centre in order to raise awareness and highlight the importance of acquiring a medical card. In addition, drug workers at the Contact Centre were involved in administering medical card application forms and providing assistance to female clients in completing the forms.

Female clients reported a preference for establishing the Women's Project within the everyday mixed setting as opposed to isolating them further by means of their participation on a morning when the service was known to be closed. This issue highlighted the importance of involving clients in the Project from the onset. It proved highly influential in deciding upon certain operational features of the Project, which could otherwise have impacted significantly on levels of participation in the study.

1.4 Method of Investigation

Prior to establishment of the Women's Clinic numerous meetings were held with a steering group for the Project. This group comprised of the assistant director of clinical services, assistant director of research and development, service manager of the Contact Centre, two female drug workers, one of whom was a nurse within the Contact Centre and finally a member of the research department. Consideration was also given to the recruitment of a female doctor who would be familiar with, and have previous experience of working with this client group. Difficulties in recruiting for this position greatly delayed the proposed start date for the Project. Having recruited a female doctor her involvement in the meetings meant additional issues for discussion were introduced.

- Firstly, it was decided that the provision of hepatitis B vaccinations was not feasible due to the time constraints associated with this work.
- II Secondly, due to the sensitivity of the medical tests being undertaken, the provision of pre and post counselling was considered an essential component of the Project. In this regard, training on both pre and post counselling skills was organised for staff members at the Contact Centre.
- C^5 Thirdly, it was considered that in light of the importance placed on referrals the following activities were undertaken;
 - Informed G.P's- The decision was taken to inform local G.P's of the nature of the proposed project because of the importance placed on referrals and the fact that some female clients may have already



been registered with their own doctor. In this regard, letters were sent out to all G.P's with whom clients were known to be registered with in the locality.

- Assisted Clients in Obtaining Medical Cards- Workers at the Contact Centre were involved in administering medical card application forms and providing assistance to female clients in completing the forms.
- Arranged Referral Arrangements for Persons Without Medical Cards- Although efforts were being
 made among Contact Centre staff to highlight the importance of medical cards among their female
 clients, there was in fact a possibility that sohie participating clients may not have applied for one,
 or may be in the process of applying, and so alternative referral arrangements were required for this
 client group. In view of this, contact was made with a member of Northern Area Health Board who
 had responsibility for the homeless multi-disciplinary primary health care team. It was therefore
 decided that these clients, if homeless, could then be referred onto the primary health care team to
 obtain a current medical card through a fast track system.

1.5 Project Delivery

1.5.1 Planning Phase

The planning and preparation involved in undertaking an action research project was considerable in view of the sensitivity of the intervention and the implications for the female clients participating. It was also necessary to ensure that the delivery of this project did not interfere with the normal daily functioning of the Contact Centre, although specific demands on both human and physical resources were envisaged. Therefore considerable time and effort were devoted to ensuring that the project was implemented and delivered in the most efficient manner for the participating clients and for staff. The following activities were undertaken in the months prior to implementation;

- Recruited a highly experienced gynecologist who had previous experience of working with marginalised individuals;
- · Promoted the project among regular female attendees to the Contact Centre;
- · Administered and facilitated the completion of medical card forms among female clients;
- Training of staff members of the Contact Centre in pre and post couselling;
- · Established contact with various medical personnel and service providers within the locality;
- Established contact with St. James hospital; developing a protocol in accordance with St. James hospital regarding the transport of samples and receipt of results;
- Obtained the relevant and appropriate medical equipment for the project.

1.5.2 Implementation Phase

The Women's Health Project operated one morning a week (Tuesday Morning) on a drop in basis for an eightweek period. The Project was advertised in advance through staff members of the Contact Centre in order to ensure maximum attendance. The recruitment of female clients was further enhanced through the existing rapport already established between the clients and the staff of the Centre.

The Womens Health Project was staffed by the aforementioned staff; a female gynecologist, a female nurse and a female drugs worker. Interested participants were firstly asked to read and sign a consent form which detailed the purpose and degree of involvement required by the client. It was highlighted that participation in the project was entirely voluntary, and that refusal to participate would not influence or jeopardise the service which they receive at either the Contact Centre or any other service within Merchants Quay Ireland. The confidentiality of information provided by the client was assured. In addition, clients were informed of the range of medical tests which they could avail of during their intervention and were asked to select those they were interested in. Pre-test couselling was made available appropriate to the type of tests selected by the client. Clients were then asked to undertake an interview with a member of the research team. Following on from this, clients were then referred to the clinic for a comprehensive medical assessment. As stated earlier, all



women were offered a thorough medical examination including a range of tests. Upon completion, client were provided with a health pack to acknowledge and show appreciation for their participation in the researc study.

1.6 Structure of the Report

The next chapter examines both national and international literature on the circumstances and needs of femal drug users. It will firstly present a review of research on drug use in Ireland and on the socio-demographi characteristics of female drug users. A review of national and international literature demonstrates that femal drug users are at increased risk of contracting the HIV virus and other sexually transmitted diseases throug injecting and sexual risk behaviour. Literature on the use of primary health care services among female dru users is also examined. Finally, the importance placed on gender specific services in both the national an international policy context is discussed.

Chapter Three presents the methodology employed to research the health status of injecting drug users. " presents an examination into the strengths of combining quantitative and qualitative methodologies in additio to an overview of the role of feminist methodologies in researching women. The design and implementation of research instruments used in the research study are also discussed.

Chapters Four, Five and Six illustrate the findings of the research study. Both qualitative and quantitative dai is presented throughout these chapters. Chapter Four demonstrates the client profile of those who participate in the research project, while Chapter Five focuses on the experience of medical complaints and contact wit health services among the cohort of female drug users. Results relating to the medical assessments undertake during the eight-week period will be illustrated throughout Chapter Six.

The Report concludes with *Chapter Seven* which provides a summary of the main findings, and presents th main conclusions and recommendations.



Literature Review

"Treatment needs, as with other human needs have a gender related component"

(Wald, etal 1995: 882)

2.1 Drug Use in Ireland

It was not until the late 1970s and early 1980s that the use of illicit drugs in Ireland, particularly heroin, became a recognised social problem. The numbers seeking treatment steadily increased to large proportions throughout the 1980s and 1990s (Butler, 1991). In a five year review of treated drug users, (JHiggins and Duff (1997) reported that in 1995 the total number of treatment cases in Dublin was 3,593, the overwhelming majority of whom were opiate users. This increased to 4,283 in 1996 (Moran *et al*, 1997) to 6,043 in 1998 (O'Brien *et al*, 2000) and 6994 in 2000 (O'Brien *et al*, 2003).

Most of the available Irish data is based on drug users who actually present for treatment and it is generally recognised that only a small proportion of problem drug users are in contact with treatment services (Hartnoll *et al*, 1985). Other studies undertaken in Ireland, and more specifically within Dublin, have tended to be localized, small scale studies. One Irish study has attempted to estimate the prevalence of opiate use in Dublin (Comiskey, 1998). Comiskey employed a capture-recapture methodology using data from three different sources; The Central Patient Methadone Treatment List, the Hospital Inpatients Enquiry Database and Police Arrests. This research estimated that the total number of opiate users in the Greater Dublin Area in 1996 was 13,460.¹ Comiskey" s findings indicated that the number of opiate users that time in Dublin were comparable to those in other European cities. While recognising that drug use is largely an urban problem, research in the U.K has illustrated that within this urban area it is highly scattered and localized, with a tendency for heroin use to be concentrated in certain neighbourhoods which exhibit various indices of social deprivation (Pearson, 1991).

2.2 Drug Use and Gender

Until recently literature on female drug users was sparse, with images of the circumstances and needs of women substance users remaining largely unacknowledged (Cox *et al*, 1999). A central theme in the research literature has been that men predominate in the drug sub-culture and are active users, while women are viewed as secondary and relatively passive participants (Ettorre, 1992). However, contemporary ethnographic studies have highlighted a different profile of the female drug user. For example, Taylor (1993) in her study of a female injecting community in Glasgow describes female drug users as active within a social network of drug

¹ Since the completion of this report, a 3 Source Capture-Recapture Study of the Prevlaence of Opaite Use was undertaken by Kelly *et al* (2003) which estimates the figures of 14,452 (Ireland) and 12,456 (Dublin).



users and resourceful in providing for their own drug use. Research undertaken in Ireland on female drug usei has tended to primarily concentrate on pregnant opiate users (O'Connor *et al*, 1988; Keenan *et al*, 1993). Otht national research studies that include women commonly treat gender only as a demographic variable and fa to report results separately by sex.

Many contemporary studies demonstrate an increasing proportion of young women using a wide range < drugs. There is clear indication that the problem of female addiction is one of large and growing proportioi (Parker and Measham 1994). Although women drug users may represent a substantial "minority" of opia drug users (Gossop *et al*, 1994), female drug users far exceed men in psychoactive drug use (EMCDDi 2000).² International studies have estimated that women's use of psychotrophic drugs exceed that of their ma drug using counterparts. For example, the use of medicines such as benzodiazepines is more common amoi women than men and the difference increases with age (EMCDDA, 2000).

Overall, in absolute numbers, the numbers of female drug users are still considered low in terms of the tot drug using population, despite a decrease of gender differences in illicit drug use among teenagers and youi adults (Cassin et al, 1998). In Britain, the Home Office figures over the last decade show a consistent figu close to 30% for notified female drug users (Gossop et al, 1994). In Ireland, Comiskey's (1998) estimation the ratio of male to female opiate users in Dublin was estimated to be 3:1. Data collected by the Heal Research Board for the Greater Dublin Area illustrates that the numbers of females in treatment is increasir Twenty two percent of the total treatment contacts in 1995 were female (O'Higgins and Duff, 1997) th increased slightly to 28% in 1996, 32% in 1998 (O'Brien, Moran, Kelleher and Cahill, 2000) and 33% in 19 (O'Brien, Kelleher and Cahill, 2002). Opiates, in particular heroin, are the primary drug of choice amo treated female drug users (O'Brien et al 2000). However, it must be noted that these figures represent fern; drug users who actually present for treatment, and it is generally recognised that women are underrepresent in treatment services (Anglin et al, 1987; Gossop et al, 1990; Hunter and Judd, 1998). Research undertak by the Merchants Quay Project on first visit attendees to the Health Promotion Service («=1337), reportec similar ratio to that of Comiskey (1998), with 23% of all first visit clients being female (Cox and Lawle 2000). This figure is higher when compared with a similar service in Manchester who reported that 18% the clients were female (Drug Misuse Database, 1997).

The ability of drug treatment agencies to attract women is questionable and little progress has been made providing gender-sensitive services (Etorre, 1992). Most drug treatment programmes continue to operate fn the perspective of male orientated treatment models which may not only be inappropriate to the needs \pounds issues of the female drug user, but which may also further deter them from entering treatment. Women di users who enter treatment often do so because they are pregnant, afraid of being imprisoned or are suffer from increasing health problems (NIDA, 1998; Thorn and Green, 1996).

Cox *et al* (1999) reported that first visit female attendees to a Dublin Health Promotion Unit were significar younger than their male counterparts. Women were on average 22 years (range 15-37 years) at the poini first contact with the Health Promotion Unit, while men were on average 24 years old (range 14-52). Evide suggests that although there is no significant gender difference in age of first IV drug use, the time intei between first IV drug use and presentation to a drug service is nevertheless shorter for women (Cox *et* 1999; Gossop *et al*, 1994).

Research has shown that many women who use drugs were introduced to drugs by their male drug us partners (Taylor, 1993). Among heroin users, women are more likely than men to have a partner who i drugs and are proportionally more likely than their male counterparts to live with a drug using partner (K 1993; Gossop *et al*, 1994). In Ireland 28% of female drug users who present for treatment live with anordrug user compared with 18% of men (Moran *et al*, 1997). Furthermore, available research also suggests

⁻ Psychostimulants- methyphenidate (Ritalin) ; dextroamphetamine (Dexedrine)



² Psychotropic drugs are medications prescribed to stabilise or improve mood, mental status or behaviour. Some com types of psychotropic medications include;

⁻ Antidepressants- fluoxetine (Prozac); Sertraline (Zoloft)

⁻ Mood Stabilisers- lithium (e.g Lithonate)

⁻ Anti-Anxiety- clonazepam (Klonapin)

women who use heroin experience problems that differ substantially from those encountered by male heroin users. They tend to have fewer financial resources, report experiencing more psychiatric and medical problems, and a greater likelihood of having child-care responsibilities (Swift *et al*, 1996; NIDA, 1998).

2.3 Injecting Risk Behaviour and Gender

There is evidence of a strong association between the frequency of sharing injecting equipment and the transmission of HIV infection (Des Jarlais *et al*, 1997). Female injecting drug users have significantly higher rates of needle sharing than their male counterparts (Mullen and Barry, 1999). An Australian study, Dwyer *et al* (1994) found women injecting drug users to be more likely to share injecting equipment because of their reluctance or inability to self-inject. Similarly, an Irish study undertaken by Smyth *et al* (1995) indicated that females are involved in greater injecting risk behaviour than their male counterparts, due to a significantly higher proportion of females testing positive for Hepatitis C.

Injecting risk behaviour depends on a number of factors such as, the availability of clean equipment and local cultural norms (McKeganev and Barnard, 1992). Injecting risk behaviour is also highly expressive of social ties between people (Burt and Stimson, 1993). The sharing of injecting equipment tends to be largely confined to the immediate social circle of the injector (Bloor 1995) and is highly differentiated by gender (Barnard, 1993). Female drug users are more likely than male injecting drug users to have a sexual partner who is an injecting drug user (McKeganey and Barnard, 1992). Moreover, the greater involvement of women with other drug users can have a considerable impact in terms of injecting risk behaviour (Klee et al, 1990; Cox et al, 1999). Both international (Darke et al, 1998) and national research (Cox and Lawless, 1999) has indicated that female drug users, in particular those with injecting partners, are more likely to report the sharing of injecting equipment and injecting paraphernalia than their male counterparts. For example, Barnard (1993) reported high numbers of female drug users who were frequently injected with used needles and syringes of their partners for personal or social reasons. The problem is that sharing in such circumstances is generally not regarded as risky behaviour by those involved, but rather as a normal part of an intimate relationship. (Burt and Stimson, 1993). Despite the fact that they may share only with their partners, their partners may in turn share with others, which therefore increases the risk of acquiring HIV and/or hepatitis (Mulleady and Sheer, 1989).

It is estimated that injecting heroin users may be at risk of death 20 or 30 times higher than that of the general population of the same age (EMCDDA, 1997). Death attributed to overdose is one of the major contributors to mortality (Drake and Zandor, 1996). International literature suggests that males and females are equally likely to have experienced a non-fatal overdose with males however being over represented in terms of fatalities due to overdose (Gossop et al, 1996; Warner Smith *et al*, 2000). For example, a study undertaken in Ireland by Ward and Barry (2001) to determine the number of opiate related deaths in 1999, revealed that of the 84 opiate related deaths, seventy eight (92.9%) were male. Overall, very little published Irish research exists despite the fact that during the 1990's the number of drug-related deaths in Ireland had risen substantially, and at a higher rate than any other country in the European Union (EMCDDA, 1999).

2.U Sexual Risk Behaviour and Gender

Within the general population in Ireland, two out of three women are sexually active, with 31 % of women who are sexually active not currently using any form of family planning (Wiley and Merriman, 1996). Although it is often reported that drug users who take depressants (such as opiates) are less sexually active than the norm, the WHO Collaborative Study group (1993) illustrated that the majority of drug users (75%) are in fact sexually active. International research has shown that levels and patterns of condom use among drug users do not differ substantially from the general heterosexual population (McKeganey *et al*, 1988; Donoghoe, 1992). Rhodes *et al* (1994) found that levels of condom use among injecting drug users in London were very low, with two thirds never using condoms with their regular partners, and over a third never using condoms with casual partners. Despite this, levels of condom use were highest among those engaging in prostitution. In a study of 201 opiate dependent women on a methadone maintenance programme, 44% of those who reported being sexually active reported not using any contraceptive method (Morrison *et al*, 1995). Johnson *et al*

21

(1994) study of injecting drug users attending a Dublin needle exchange, noted that while 92% of the research participants were sexually active, a third (33%) never used condoms. Evidence suggests that HIV infection is shifting towards sexual routes, as injecting drug users have curtailed their injecting risk behaviour but continue to have unprotected sex resulting in the sexual transmission of HIV being often overlooked by injecting drug users (Delor, 1997). Similarly O'Gorman's study (1999) found little knowledge of risk awareness or harm reduction strategies with regard to safer sexual practices among injecting drug users.

Prostitution is a means of support for a significant proportion of female drug users and can provide a reliable and steady income, in some cases for up to 60% of women (EMCDDA, 2000). Numerous studies have illustrated that female drug users working in prostitution appear to be younger and have a poorer health status than their non-drug using female counterparts (O'Neill et al, 1999; Faugier, 1992; McDonnell et al, 1998). Female drug users who work in the sex industry are at increased risk of exposure to HIV and other sexually transmitted infections due to a number of factors including; multiple sexual partners and high risk sexual activity. O'Neill et al (1999), in an Irish study undertaken with drug using women working in prostitution (n=77), reported that while safer sexual practices were being implemented in their work environment, many were putting themselves at risk in their private relationships. While over 92% («=71) of the women reported always using condoms with their clients only 15% («=12) of them reported always using condoms with their partners in their private lives. Research has highlighted that many street-working women consider condoms symbolic of sex work and therefore inappropriate in their private sexual relationships (McKeganey and Barnard, 1992). Furthermore, a study carried out in Manchester by Faugier et al (1992) argued that condom use was less consistent where the woman prostituting was an injecting drug user. Gossop et al (1995) study on the relationship between drug use and sexual risk behaviour among female street workers in the south of London, showed that about one quarter of the sample had unprotected vaginal and anal sex with their clients within the previous month. Moreover, few of the sample had used condoms with their regular partner, even though their partner was, in some cases, a drug injector.

2.5 Health Issues of Female Drug Users

Although the life expectancy for women is greater than that for males, they generally appear to suffer poorer health during the course of their lifetime (Payne, 1991). The suggestion is often made that women are more inclined to see themselves as ill or consult a doctor compared to men with similar symptoms (GHS, 1990). Nonetheless, females experience a higher incidence of acute but largely non-fatal illnesses such as, digestive system disorders, and other conditions such as anaemia than their male counterparts, whereas males are more at risk of developing chronic illnesses such as coronary heart disease or other cardiovascular diseases (Don Sabo, 2001). Furthermore, women's symptoms are more likely to be attributed to psychological or "normal female" causes, while those experienced by their male drug using counterparts are more likely to be attributed to physical causes (Gutierres *et al*, 1994). Social class, poverty and gender are the main predictors of women's health status as poverty based research has clearly illustrated that that women living on low incomes are not only more likely to die younger but are also exposed to a greater risk of illness throughout their lives (Daly, 1989).

Research has also shown that women drug users experience higher levels of medical problems during their drug-using careers, than their male drug using counterparts (Cox *et al*, 1999). Indeed it is often a medical complaint, more specifically, pregnancy, which precipitates a woman's entrance into drug treatment (Taylor, 1993; Lewis *et al*, 1995). Numerous studies have reported that drug-using women are at increased risk of the following medical problems: infections, anaemia, STI's, hepatitis, hypertension, diabetes, urinary tract infections, gynecological problems and dental disease including abscesses (Mondanaro, 1989).

Female drug users may also experience a variety of problems specifically in relation to obstetric outcomes. For example, opioid dependent pregnant women are at increased risk of serious health complaints such anaemia and high blood pressure in addition to premature labour and stillbirth of their newborns (Finnegan, 1991; Ward *et al*, 1998). Although there is research to suggest that poor pregnancy outcomes may be influenced more by the poor socioeconomic lifestyles of drug users rather than the effects of the drugs themselves, some studies have indicated that heroin use during pregnancy is consistently linked to low birth rate, growth retardation and spontaneous abortion (Hepburn, 1993). There is also evidence that the



engagement of pregnant drug users in methadone treatment can significantly reduce the complications at birth and produce more favourable outcomes (Giles *et al*, 1989).

Injecting drug users in general represent a high-risk group for bloodborne viral infections, including HIV, hepatitis B (HBV) and hepatitis C (HCV). Women who inject drugs are at particular risk of becoming infected with Hepatitis B, Hepatitis C and HIV through sharing injecting equipment with their infected partner (Klee, 1993). Rinear (1996) argues that many of the symptoms of hepatitis B are very similar to those associated with other aspects of drug use indicating that injecting drug users are likely to have positive test results without having had any prior knowledge of their hepatitis status. In recent years there has been increased concern at the reported high levels of hepatitis C among Irish injecting drug users. High levels of HCV have been observed among Irish female injecting drug users. Symth *et al* (1998) illustrates that of the 204 female injecting drug users who tested for hepatitis C within a five-year period (1992-1997) at the National Drug Treatment Centre, 63% were HCV positive.

Female drug injectors are also more likely to be at greater risk of becoming HIV positive than their male drug using counterparts. One New York study revealed that 58 percent of female drug users were HIV positive compared with 40% of male injectors (Des Jarlais et al, 1997). Women are more likely than men to contract HIV through an infected sexual partner (Henderson, 1992). Studies have indicated that once infected, female drug users are also more likely to have a shorter survival time from AIDS diagnosis to the period of mortality (Blume et al, 1994). In Ireland, Johnson (1994) reported HIV prevalence of 14.8% among a cohort of injecting drug users attending a Dublin needle exchange in 1991. National figures as at the end of June 2001 show that IV drug users represent 41% of the total cases which have tested positive to date, with females accounting for 36% of the new HIV positive cases obtained through intravenous drug use in 2000 (National Disease Surveillance Centre, 2001). The incidence of HIV infection among female drug users is also of increasing concern, as studies have cited that the development of various gynecological complaints related to HIV are frequent. For example, a study by Minkoff et al (1999) found that among 262 HIV infected women, 46.9% had at least one incidence of a gynecological condition. Furthermore, the occurrence of human papillomavirus virus (HPV) and cervical dysplasia among HIV infected females can increase the risk of cervical cancer among this population group (Bradbeer, 1987). HIV positive women are also more likely to experience poorer outcomes with cervical cancer in terms of, for example, their responses to therapy and higher rates of recurrence than their HIV negative counterparts (Wilcox, 2001).

HPV infection especially can cause a weakened or suppressed immune system, thus leaving women more vulnerable to other sexually transmitted diseases. Involvement of female drug users in prostitution can place them at increased risk of sexually transmitted infections. (T Neill and O'Connor (1999) reported that less than one third of drug-using women («=24) working in prostitution had been screened for sexually transmitted infections at the time of interview. In nine of the cases, women were diagnosed as having a sexually transmitted infection at screening.

High prevalences of Mycobacterium Tuberculosis (TB) infection have also been observed in drug users (Mathias, 1998). For women, research has indicated that histories of injecting drug use and methadone treatment are regarded as risk factors for the Mycobacterium Tuberculosis infection (Zolopa *et al*, 1994). Although TB infection is often regarded as a clinical manifestation of the HIV infection, evidence has suggested similar rates of TB infection among both HIV seronegative and seropositive drug users (Selwyn *et al*, 1989). Moreover, the probability of developing the disease is substantially higher among HIV-infected individuals. However, it has not been established whether the infection is related to injecting drug use itself or to other TB risk factors. Durante *et al* (1998) illustrated a prevalence rate of 15.7% for the Mycobacterium Tuberculosis infection among 1055 individuals screened at an urban drug treatment facility in USA. This study showed that injecting drug use may be an indication of other risk factors associated with TB, such as malnutrition, close contact or increased susceptibility to respiratory infection rather than being the primary cause of the infection.

Women drug users also suffer from more injecting related complaints than their male counterparts (Cox and Lawless, 2000). Brettle *et al* (1990) categorizes injecting related complaints as those directly resulting from the injecting practice itself (technique specific) or as a result of the complications due to the type of drug used



(substance specific). In terms of technique specific, despite the fact that both sexes report the usual abscej from repeated injecting with unclean injecting equipment, females are more likely to complain of difficul in injecting because of smaller and less visible veins (Cox and Lawless, 2000). Tetanus among heroin u; has been reported among females in whom abscesses form due to complications resulting fr 'skinpopping'.³ Female injecting drug users also commonly experience infections such as septicaer thrombosis, endocarditis and cellulitis (Elion, 1990).

2.6 Use of Health Services

Numerous sociological studies have illustrated that medical services deal with a rather small proportion of symptoms experienced by members of the community with evidence suggesting that many patients v severe medical difficulties do not consult the doctor at all. Kasl and Cobb (1966) developed a concep scheme to sociologically examine under what conditions people will and will not visit the doctor. T concluded that in order for an individual to seek medical aid, they must first become aware of a symptom a problem and then choose to visit the doctor as the most appropriate action. The decision to seek medical i according to Kasl and Cobb, will also depend on an individual's prior experience of medical services and costs and benefits that he/she will receive. Rosenstock (1986) argues that ultimately it is the occurrence < "trigger" or a "critical incident" which stimulates the individual to seek appropriate medical treatment.

Drug users in general have failed to utilise health services adequately and receive essential health care (Bre *et al*, 1990), although female drug users tend to report greater medical contact than their male drug us counterparts (Cox and Lawless, 2000). Kleyn *et al* (1993) argue that some drug users are deterred fit seeking medical assistance due to the fear of hospitalisation as the fear of withdrawal is greater than the i of an unchecked illness. A study undertaken by Merchants Quay Ireland on first visit attendees to the He; Promotion Unit illustrated that, despite the fact that nearly half of the clients reported medical contact in three months prior to presentation at the Unit, levels of medical contact were relatively low among inject drug users. Forty eight percent of the clients (n=631) reported that they had no contact with medical servi (i.e gum clinic, A+E, dentist, G.P, other medical services) while the remaining 52% of clients (n=683) repoil some form of medical contact. Female clients were significantly more likely than their male counterpart; report having had some form of medical contact. Seventy percent of female clients. More specific female clients were more likely to report all types of medical contact; Gum Clinic, A&E, dentist, G.P, or oi medical services.

On the other hand, Smyth *et al* (1999) a study on the utilisation of health care services among one hund and five injecting drug users attending a Dublin drug treatment service illustrated surprisingly high level reported medical contact. Seventy percent of respondents reported seeing their G.P in the last year with 2 of these visiting in excess of 20 times. While 50% had attended accident and emergency, only 7% repoi such visits more than five times. A study undertaken by O'Connor *et al*, (1988) examined the characteris of drug-using attendees of A&E departments in the Greater Dublin Area to ascertain whether or not they w similar to the profile of those attending a city centre drug treatment service. A&E drug using attendees *M* older and were also more likely not to be known to the drug treatment service. Hutchinson *et al* (1995) in tl comparative analysis of drug using attendees at a Dublin A&E department between 1985 and 1993, revet that although there was no increase in the numbers of drug using attendees, their drug using profile changed. Results showed an increase in the use of both benzodiazepines and prescribed opiates as oppose! heroin as the primary drug of choice.

Other research on the nature and extent of medical contact among drug users, has tended to focus on the treatment for opiate dependence or HIV as opposed to contact undertaken exclusively for primary health c Bury *et al* (1993) interviewed intravenous drug users attending a Dublin HIV Prevention Unit about their of general practitioner services. Sixty eight percent of clients had visited a GP within the previous year 48% being registered with a GP under the General Medical Services (GMS). Both methadone treatment

³ Skinpopping refers to an injection between skin and fat layers. Also called "subcutaneous" or "sub-Q" it is injecting drug just beneath the skin.



medical cover under the GMS scheme were important influences on levels of contact with general practitioners. Members of the Scheme were twice as likely to visit a GP as non-members and three times more likely to visit the same doctor for all problems besides methadone treatment. Similarly, Bradley *et al* (1994) carried out research on 150 attendees at a HIV specialist clinic in Ireland on both their attitudes to and their experience of the care received from general practitioners. Eighty one percent had a regular general practitioner, while 64% of them saw their doctor in excess of five times in the previous year. Despite these high levels of attendance, 72% of the respondents reported that they would prefer to attend a hospital clinic if their problems were known to be related to their HIV status.

Desmond *et al* (1993) examined the use of a Dublin inner city A&E department by patients known to be HIV positive. These patients reported that they had attended their GP in addition to the utilisation of the accident and emergency department for their primary health care needs. International research has highlighted that, in general, women with HIV frequent fewer health services than HIV infected men (Hellinger, 1993). A multisite survey of service use by Hellinger (1993) revealed that women with asymptomatic HIV disease were less likely to receive AZT than asymptomatic HIV positive men, while women with AIDS were also found to be less likely to be hospitalised than men with AIDS. Furthermore, a study by Piette *et al* (1993) found that the prevalence of service need was significantly higher for women with HIV compared with their male counterparts, especially in relation to drug treatment and mental health.

Emphasis is increasingly being placed on the importance of the GP in providing care to drug using clients, not only in the treatment of their drug use but also for their primary health care needs, which may, or may not be as a result of their drug using status. However, international research into GP attitudes has indicated a tendency towards negative attitudes with drug users not likely to be the most favoured of clients (Roche *et al*, 1991). In particular, an Australian survey undertaken among GP's in Sydney, illustrated that opiate users were the least favoured of all patients and a degree of hostility to them was expressed by most GP's (Roche 1991). Drug users themselves have also reported G.P's attitudes towards them as being particularly unfavourable (Telfer and Clulow, 1990). Some literature contains evidence that G.P's may lack the perceived skill or training to deal with this client group, they may have concerns regarding their personal safety or prejudice against individuals with self-inflicted conditions (Abed and Neira-Munoz 1990; Greenwood 1992). Heller (1994) suggests that the successful management of drug-using individuals within the primary care field is possible if attention is given to other aspects of their lives apart from being "excessively preoccupied" with their drug using status.

2.7 Drug Policy and Gender

The provision of "gender-neutral" treatment has been based on the premise that drug dependence is gender unspecific and that the needs of both male and female drug users are similar. In recent years, however, there has been an increasing awareness of the differing needs and social circumstances of female drug users from those of their male drug using counterparts (Vogt, 2000). In the U.K, the Advisory Council on the Misuse of Drugs (1984) argued that research and policy makers have often assumed that hypotheses and policies drawn up in response to male drug use are equally applicable to women (Dorn and South, 1992). Following on from this, the 1989 ACMD Report recognised that drug services *'should review their policies to ensure that they are receptive to the needs of women'*(1989:140). According to Evason (1993: 216) the fact that women have been largely invisible in the research process has led to policies which seem *"incapable of grappling directly with the problems they are supposed to address"*. Therefore, men and women injectors should be targeted differently in respect of their experiences of a drug injecting lifestyle and also in relation to their risks of HIV transmission (Barnard, 1993). Copelands and HalFs (1992) study suggests that gender specific services have the ability to recruit women who might not otherwise seek treatment for their substance use and also to retain such individuals in treatment.

In 1995 in Beijing, governments from 189 countries at the Fourth UN World Conference on Women adopted an agreement to deliver equality and development for women on twelve main areas, one of these being equal access to health services. Since 1995, the Irish Department of Health and Children have been working to facilitate women's involvement in the delivery of health services. In 1997 the Department of Health, following the *Discussion Paper on Women's Health (1995)* prepared the policy document "A Plan for Women's Health".



This document argued that a policy for women's health should be based on "a comprehensive approach to the life experiences of women and the issues which affect their health" and in particular should target groups of disadvantaged women who may "experience a concentration of health and other social problems" (1997:4-5). Moreover, it states that action undertaken must strive not only to reduce those health problems that are unique to women but also those which affect them differently to men. Despite these efforts, the model of health care has greatly changed to take into account women's needs and perspectives. Numerous barriers to both adequate and appropriate health care still exist with restriction of access to, and lack of information on services, marginialising those who are in greatest need of health care.

2.8 Summary and Conclusion

This chapter has provided an overview of the health issues, which impact on women who use drugs. Despite the fact that the numbers of female drug users are considered low in terms of the total drug using population, an increasing proportion of women use a wide range of drugs. In recent years drug treatment services have begun to consider the specific needs and circumstances of female drug users.

Both national and international literature have consistently argued that drug using women are particularly vulnerable in terms of both injecting and sexual risk behaviour. This in turn places them at greater risk of Hep B/C and HIV infections. Their close proximity to other drug users, their increased likelihood of having a regular sexual partner who is an injecting drug user, coupled with a greater reliance on others to help inject themselves creates a high risk environment for female injectors.

High levels of sexual risk behaviour have also been observed. A high proportion of female drug users also engage in prostitution. Although they report high condom use in their work environment, they report placing themselves at risk in their private relationships.

Literature has demonstrated a large proportion of female drug users reporting and presenting with injecting related complaints and high levels of sexually transmitted infections. Although levels of reported contact with medical services are considered relatively high among female drug users (in comparison to those of the general drug using population), there are nevertheless female drug users for whom access to appropriate health care remains difficult. In this regard, various studies on female drug use have advocated a closer examination of their general health needs which extends beyond their reproductive role.



Research Methodology

"We should be free to combine whatever parts of whatever methods we think are promising for our research goals "

(Klein, 1983: 96).

3.1 Researching Women

Although the importance of research in both influencing and directing future social polices cannot be underestimated, numerous research studies are now concentrating on the immediate needs of those examined and the benefits of the research to them. In this regard, research projects generate information on a particular research issue and its findings can then be used to influence future action. Today, research in the social sciences which focuses on changing the situation of women and making them visible is receiving increasing importance. Research for women rather than on women is a central theme (Daly 2000). Researching the private and emotional experiences of women is now regarded as 'acceptable data' which can highly influence the social and economic inequalities experienced by women (Daly, 2000: 66). In this research, participants are asked to become actively involved in the research project by agreeing to undertake a thorough medical examination. Lee (1993) argues that in researching sensitive issues, such as the above, consideration must be given to the ethical responsibilities involved and we must become more aware of the broader social issues which this type of research raises. Lee (1993) further argues that the sensitivity of the research is largely concerned with the social context in which it occurs as opposed to the actual topic chosen. The importance of undertaking research within an appropriate social setting and developing the research methodology accordingly are equally important. There is no one method that is universally suitable for research on women. A flexible approach is recommended which will allow the nature of the research to determine which method(s) are the most appropriate (Daly 2000). The importance of including women in the research process from the onset is also highly recommended (Lee, 1993).

3.2 Measuring Health

The definition of health employed by the World Health Organisation as "....a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity" (cited in Albrecht, 1994:13) highlights the importance of including in any measurement of health various social, cultural, subjective and psychological variables that impact on independent living and perceived well-being. Despite the concept of health as being more than an absence of illness, frequently used statistics in the field of health research on the general population tends to concentrate on mortality, life expectancy and a range of morbidity indicators. Measurements in morbidity commonly indicate that various groups of the population may differ, not in their experience of ill health and conditions, but rather in their perception of health and sickness (Payne, 1991).



Numerous sociologists have found that individuals ascribe their own interpretation to their experiences health and illness (Nettleton, 1995), these interpretations may often be shared by people in the same group the individual. Therefore in this study, consideration must be given as to whether men and women atta fundamentally different meanings to the concept of health both when assessing their own state of health a their need for medical assistance (Irmgard, 1999).

Individuals are being asked to report their own health status in ways that can be analyzed quantitatively a which will also inform medical practice (Albrecht, 1994). Subjective health assessment is becoming increasing part of contemporary health services research and clinical practice (Albrecht, 1994). In other wor individuals can provide valuable insights into their own health and well-being which may prove beneficial determining the overall benefits or harm associated with different medical treatments (Fitzpatrick et al, 199 For example, the health status measure SF-36 (Short Form 36 Health Survey Questionnaire) has been know for its high validity as a standardised health measure (Brazier et al 1992). Manderbacka et al (1999) argi that "self-reported health is one of the most common indicators of health in survey research and has also be recommended for health monitoring by both the World Health Organisation and the European Uni Commission". Furthermore, "qualitative studies of the way respondents themselves perceive self-rated hea have reported similar results concerning health behaviours " (1999:1714). However, individual perceptions personal health, well-being and life satisfaction may often be different to their objective health stat Cornwell (1984) terms this variation as being the 'public' and 'private' accounts of health where individu only reveal the 'public' account of their health within initial interviews. Measures of morbidity based on se reports of illness are likely to under-report clinically defined disease (Blaxter, 1990; Evandrou et al, 199 Such measurements are often located within a medical definition of health as being the absence of illne rather than health as a positive state of well being.

The majority of studies in the measurement of health complaints among injecting drug users rely heavily retrospective self-reported information. However, there are a number of shortcomings associated with t accuracy of self-reported data. Drug users may provide inaccurate information about their past and cum experiences as patterns of drug use and sexual practices undergo changes over time (Samuels et al, 198 Bradburn et al, 1987). A study undertaken by Kleyn et al (1993) on the incidence of sexually transmit diseases among injecting drug users suggests that the use of self-reported information to measure infecti with sexually transmitted diseases or to validate other measures is a questionable practice. Their comparati analysis of survey and serological data revealed discrepancies between results, in particular when responded said they had no previous history of infection. Kleyn et al (1993) argue that to incorporate survey questic with serological testing is of great benefit in providing additional information which can ultimately improthe health of drug injectors. Notwithstanding these concerns, numerous studies have shown that intravence drug users often provide reasonably accurate information on their drug using practices (McElrath et al, 199 sexual behaviours (Kleyn et al, 1993; Rhodes et al, 1996) and are also able to diagnose their injecting relat illnesses as accurately as clinicians (Morrison et al, 1997). However it is important that subjective hea measurement questionnaires are not employed as substitutes for traditional medical tests, but are used inste to complement and inform other medical sources of data (Jenkinson et al, 1994). Qualitative methods are al widely used by researchers into the sociology of health (Cleary and Tracy, 1997).

3.3 Combining Methodologies

Quantitative and qualitative methodologies may be perceived as different ways of examining the sar research problem (Pawson and Tilley, 1997). The combination of different research methodologies on to study of health problems related to drug use increases both the reliability and validity of the research findin (Jenkinson *et al*, 1994). Quantitative data often relies on the use of the social survey while qualitative research tends to be associated with participant observation or in-depth interviewing. Quantitative data centres scientific inquiry and allows information to be obtained on individuals known to be representative of a wid population (Bryman, 1988). This research method regards human action as capable of being analysed wir reference to the laws of science, i.e., that human action is quantifiable (Ritzer, 1992).

The increasing use of qualitative research as a valid methodology within the social sciences has been wide documented. Qualitative research can also inform the design of quantitative research instruments as well



(17661 '/o p uosup[U9f) A§oppoqi9ui 9AijBjqBtib B SmAojduig u9qA\ 9Aijonpojd 9AOjd J9jB| UBO цэцм 'suuedijued 9qj qlAV dopA9p OJ JJOddBJ J9§U0JJS B JOJ AVO||B OS|B UBO JU9UirUJSUI 9AJJBJJUUBtb 9qj Burensiuiupe ui J9A\9iAj9jui gqj jo JU9UI9A|OAUI gqj 'siqj 9jids9Q "(17661 [£]oop5[9og) uojjBJjsiuiuipB jo spoqjaui təquo qiiM p9JBduioo 9sn uiopuoo jo spA9[puB suoijogjui pgjjiuisuBij A[]Bnx9s 'sjgujaBd [Bnxss jo sjsqumu pətodər gqj SSBSJOUI AJJBSJS UBD ssiiBuuoijssnb p9jBJjsmiuipB-j]3S jBqj punoj 9ABq sgipnjs JBUOIJBUJ9JUI '9{duiBX9 JOj "p9JU9Uin3Op A|9pIA\ U99q OS|B SBq U2UOAV §UOUIB S911SSI qj|B9q JO JU9UI3JnSB9UI 9qj UI SAV9AA9JUI 99Bj oj 30Bj oj pgsoddo SB sAgAins (s_t)vs) ps-isjsiuiuipB -j]9S jo gsn gqx 'pgsBgjoui gq UBO U0IJOO^OO BjBp gqj jo AoBAud gqj qoiqA\ Aq spoqjgui puB sgnssi qijBqu ob BjBp jo gjnjBU gAijisugs gqj pgjqSqqSiq OSJB gABq sgipnjs qoressg^ 'dnojS jusip siqj jgSiBj AjjBoijpgds qoiqA\ 'suoijugAjgjui puB sgpipd qjjBsq dojaApp oj ApjBuiijjn puB puBjsjgpun oj qoiqAV uodn poqjgui gAijogfqns B sgAiS sjgsn Snap Suijogfui jo gjAjsgji] uµteau sqj guiuBxg oj spoqjgui OAjiBjqBnb jo juguiAojduig gqx '(8861 'uBuiAjg) sjuBdiojjaBd jgq/siq oj Ajiuiixoid jgjBgjS B gABq oj sisqojBgsgj SAVOJJB qojBgsgj gAijBjipnb ssgpqjigAgl\[-sjugAg urejjgo jo uoijBsqBjguaS gpiAOid oj SuqiBj SB ponSiB ugjjo si qojBgsgj jo gdAj siqx 'spoqjgui OAjiBjijuBnb UIOJJ pgAijgp BjBp gqj uoijsanb

•(0002 'uijugq puB 9iuAg) ugsoqo qoJB9S9J jo poqigui gqj oj p9soddo SB ASoppoqjgtu siqi ssjougp U3IUM (diqsuoijBpa jB0iq3JBJ9iq-uou 'AjiAij99fqns !SB qons) S9[di9uud jsiuiui9] STIOUBA jo 9sn gqj si ji jBqj pgnSiB si JI 'qoBoaddB 9AijBj9jdj9jui 9AijBjijBnb gqj Aoldui9 sgiSoppoqjsui qojB9S9J jsiuiuigj JBqj J9ipq ppq Aluoraraoo B si gjgqj q§noqj[v '⁹I^c!!^{s,A} 1^{J3}P^{u9}§,, ^{UBI}IJ Jsq^-i ,,U9UIOA\,,SS>[BUI q9iqA\ ASo[opoqj9ui B SB p9ju9S9jd §upq si ji jBqj UOIJOU SuiApgpun UB SI gjqqj ASojopoqjgui jsiuiui9j B SuiAojduig ui jBqj SSTTSJB (2661) maouzzeuegy A|jB[iuii§ '(A'0002 'uijuqq puB smAg) *ndotoA UMO api/i m doududdxd SJI/J 2m\pi 'ppos dif; Jo abuaj.adxa pdM\ s udiuoM Suizpuoud*^ Aq sgijqBnbgui p9SBq-a9pu9§ jpAun oj p9u§iS9p si q9B0jddB UB qons 'upsoiddæ JSUUUJ9J B JO 99UBJJOduiI 9qj p9jq§I|qSiq 9ABq U2UOAV JOJ U95[BJJ9pUd S9ipnjS q0JB9S9J UO amuzan['Ajuabaga

suouiOAV gqj ui pgAojdura 3J9AV qoiqM 'SJUSUITUJSUI jo 9§UBJ B UOIJD9S siqj ui 'BjBp jo gdAj 9uo UBqj 9JOUI suouOAV gqj ui pgAojdura 3J9AV qoiqM 'SJUSUITUJSUI jo 9§UBJ B UOIJD9S siqj ui 'BjBp jo gdAj 9uo UBqj 9JOUI 93U9q pUB UOIJB§US9AUJ JO pOqj9UI 9UO UBqj 9J0UI sAojdIUS UQIJBpSuBUX '(1£1886I 'UBUIAjg) "JU9UJ9jnSB9JAI uongenSugu JSB oj p9xi9j9J si s9qBUBA jo ju9ui9jnsB9ui gqj ui juguirujsui qojB9S9J 9uo UBqj 9joui jo 9sn aqx

- •JU9UI30U9UIUI00 OJ JQlid JOŞfojd 9qj JO JU9UId0|9A9p 9qj TXUOU OJ SB OS JOSf0id qOJB9S9J 9qj UI JS9J9JUI JO S|9A9| jpqj UIBJ93SB OJ 'J9IJIB9 p9JBJS SB 'U9>[BJJ9pun SBA\ ş;qx '9-IJU93 JOBJUO^ sqj JB sjugip 9jBui9j JB[n§9j jo jaoqoo B gjiA\ ug^Bjjgpun SBAV dnoiQ snooj y
- S30IAJ3S JBOtpSm qjIA\ JOBIUOO JO SJƏAƏJ pue STIJBJS qj^Bsq psApojad 'moiABqaq 5[su {Bnxas puB Suisn Snap tsjuaip ajBUisj uo UOIJBUIIOJUI pətiodəi -jps pspiAoid puB BjBp oiqdBjSouisp-opos psjosnoo uuoj siqx "JU3UXSS9SSB [BOTpsui jpqj oj joud SJU3I|0 9JBUJ3J \\S OJ UIB3J qOJB9S9J 9qj JO J9qUI9UI B Aq p9J9JSIUIUjpB SBAV UUOJ UOIJVWUO/UJ ijljVdfJ y
- •psfojd aq; jo AisAipp aqj ui paAjoAux 3J3A\ oqA\ JS^JOAV sSrup 3|BUI3J B puB ssjnu sqj 'jopop sqj qjAV us^Bjjapun osp3 3JSA\ SMSIAISJUJ "SSQIAJOS SJBO qjjBsq AjBiuud jo aouausdxs jpqj SUTUTUIBXS o; uoi;ippB ui STI;BJS qjjBsq jpq; jo suoijdsoisd S^USUIOM sqj jo SuipuBjsjspun UB UTB§ oj Ajiunjjoddo UB pspiAOid SMSIAJSJUI sssqx 'imo j UQIJBUJJOJUI qj]B9H aqj jo uoijBajsmiuipB aqj SUTA\O||OJ sjusip Sutjussuoo \\e qjiM u35[Bjjapun OSJB SJSAV SM3IAJ3]UJ pəamiən.45-iuwaS
- •sjjnsgj jsgj jo jdpogj uodn gpBiu gag AY qoiqM sjuguigSuBxre pxigjgj puB UOIJOB jo UBjd 'sSuipug puB sxsouSBip juoumoop oj pgpnpui QSJB SBAV UQIJOOS v 'snjBjs qjjBgq sjugqo gqj uo sjugiuuioo JBJ9U9§ pUB U35[BliapUn SJSgj AiOJBJOqBJ 'SUigjsAs JO AV3[A9J B 'S9I§J3JJB 19qjO AUB UOIJBOipOUI OJ Sgjfalo][12 UA\OUJ['uopBOipsui jusxino 'Aiojsiq |BQiSopo9uA§ 'ssjnpaooid jBoiSms jSBd 'A"JIUIBJ jpqj puB 100][2 sqj qjoq jo Aiojsiq jBOipsiu sqj jo s^repp papnpui pspioosj UOIJBUUOJUJ "uopB^nsuoo sqj jo uoxpjduioo uodn puB Suunp qjoq jauopipBid (Boipsui aqj Aq pspjdmoo SBA\ *IUJOJ fudiussdssy poipdj*^ y

dnojg snooj I-^Z

3.4 Data Collection

snooj B Sui5[Bjjgpufi '(6661 '-isSuizji^ puB jnoqiBg) oidoj B jo sgougugdxg puB SAVOIA jpqj jnoqB UOIJBUUOJUI UIB\$ oj sjBnpiAipui jo dnoaS pgjogps B qjiA\ uoissnosip pgsiuBSio UB SB pgquosgp uggq SBq dnoiS snooj y



group at the preliminary stage of a research study can provide an opportunity for the key players in the stud to become involved in the research process thereby empowering the participants from the onset. The focu group can allow valuable insights and opinions to be conveyed which can then be used to develop or modif the study accordingly. As described in Chapter One, a focus group was undertaken with a cohort of femal attendees to the Contact Centre prior to commencement of the Women's Project. This provided an opportunit to publicise the project, while at the same time identify levels of interest. In addition, issues such as, the limite numbers of females in receipt of medical cards was highlighted early on in the planning stage of the project thus allowing appropriate action to be taken.

3.4.2 Health Information Form

This form provided baseline information on participants' socio-demographic characteristics, drug usin patterns, injecting and sexual risk behaviour, in addition to self-reported information on the health status o female injecting drug users.

Participants were firstly asked to provide information on their age, current accommodation type and whethe or not they had children and, if so, their ages and child-care arrangements. Participants were also asked if the; were currently sharing accommodation with an intravenous drug user so as to ascertain levels of rish behaviour. In terms of drug using patterns, participants were asked at what age they initiated intravenous dru; use and the type of drug used. Participants were also asked to state their current primary and secondary drugs their routes of administration, and whether they were on any prescribed medication. Details of the type o medication, the complaint, and length of time on such medication were also recorded. Clients were also askei to report on their most common injecting site, the extent to which they inject themselves and experieno difficulties in finding an injecting site. In terms of sexual risk behaviour, participants were asked whether o not they were currently sexually active and if so, whether they had more than one sexual partner in the las three months. A question was also included to ascertain whether the participants had a regular sexual partne and whether the partner was an injecting drug user. Participants were also asked to report on their sexual risk behaviour including the main method of contraception employed. Experience of ever having a sexuall; transmitted infection was also included within this section and if so the date of this diagnosis.

In measuring the subjective health status of female injecting drug users, the use of a symptom checklist, base< on the Opiate Treatment Index (OTI) as developed by Darke *et al* (1991) was employed. As the benefits of thi OTI instrument are its known reliability and validity, it was decided to employ a similar symptom checklist t< measure clients' health and well-being. Many of the illnesses included in the general health question, such a abscesses, septicemia and overdoses are caused by drug use and are indicative of unsafe injecting and druj using techniques. Other items included on the symptom checklist included a range of cardio-respirator> neurological and gastro-intestinal complaints. A global measure of physical health was also included b; employing a global rating scale. This rating scale requires respondents to describe their state of health b; answering one question. There is evidence supporting the value of such uncomplicated global ratings in term: of their simplicity and clarity (Ziebland, 1994).

Clients were also asked if they ever had a test for HIV or hepatitis B/C and, if so, date of last test. They wen also asked to state whether they currently have hepatitis B, hepatitis C or ever had jaundice and, if so, thi medical treatment they are receiving. Jaundice was also included as clients may be unaware of their hepatitis status and experience of jaundice may indicate hepatitis B or C. Clients were also asked whether they ever had a vaccination against hepatitis B.

3.4.3 Semi-Structured Interviews

Semi-structured interviews provide qualitative information from the subjects point of view by exploring idea: and meanings with which they are familiar. Literature has noted that the use of qualitative interviews with women allows them to express their own opinions and interpret the personal meanings they attach to experiences (May, 1993). In view of the sensitivity of the research project and the perceived personal issue: which may emerge, it was considered most suitable to undertake individual semi-structured interviews with < cohort of regular female attendees at the Contact Centre. Some of the areas that were examined within this research context focused on barriers to health care; experience of previous medical health complaints; type:



of medical assistance often sought and general views and opinions of the medical treatment received. A member of the Research Department conducted all interviews in private in the Contact Centre of the Merchant's Quay Project. Consent was obtained and all clients were informed that they could terminate the interview at any point in time.

3.4.4 Medical Assessment Form

This form, as stated earlier, was designed as a research instrument to be completed by the doctor both during and following the medical examination. The information collected on this form included;

- Past Medical History (diabetic, asthmatic, smoker etc)
- < § Past Surgical History (tonsils etc)
- Gynaecological History (previous pregnancies etc)
- Review of Systems (bowels, any palpitations etc)
- Physical Examination (hands, ear, eyes, throat, cardio-respiratory tests, neurological tests)
- Types of Tests Undertaken (Hep B and C etc).
- · Diagnosis/ Findings
- Plan of Action/Referral

Although a review of participants' medical status may, in some cases, have already been covered, through administering the health information form, it was nevertheless essential that the information on past medical/surgical history be collected by the doctor. This information was considered to be of primary relevance for the doctor prior to her undertaking medical examinations, and secondly as a means of collecting additional research data.

3.5 Data Analysis

The quantitative data derived from both the Health Information Form and the Medical Assessment Form were entered into SPSS for Windows (Version 10). All percentages are based on valid responses adjusted for missing data. The qualitative data collected from the interviews with both clients and staff members was firstly transcribed verbatim and then analyzed according to specific themes.

3.6 Summary and Conclusion

This chapter has presented the methodology which was employed to achieve the aims and objectives of the research study. It also highlights the methodological issues involved in understanding and implementing a measurement of health. As outlined in this chapter, there are a number of shortcomings associated with the accuracy of self-reported data. Despite these concerns, a variety of approaches have recommended the use of self-reported data with other standardised measurements of health. Therefore the combination of objective (clinical) and subjective measurements within the Women's Health Project sought to complement and further inform the research findings. Literature has also demonstrated that any measurement of health is fraught with differing definitions and interpretations of 'health'. Studies have illustrated that different groups of the population may differ, not in their experience of ill health but rather in their perception of health and sickness (Payne, 1991; Nettleton, 1995).

Both qualitative and quantitative research techniques were undertaken at various stages of the project. Quantitative methods included the *Health Information Form* and the *Medical Assessment Form*, while focus groups and semi structured interviews with both female clients and staff were undertaken.

Client Profile

4.1 Introduction

A total of 17 female clients who were regular attendees of the Contact Centre agreed to participate in the research element of the Project which was undertaken prior to the medical intervention on each morning over the eight week period. This figure does not represent all female clients who expressed an interest in the project, as due to the constraints of the study in terms of time and resources not all clients could be accommodated. Nevertheless, every effort was employed to ensure that the majority of clients were facilitated on each morning of the Project. This chapter will examine the profile of those who participated in the study and will explore the needs and social circumstances of a cohort of females who present regularly at this low-threshold service within Dublin's Inner City.

4.2 Socio-Demographic Information

4.2.1 Age

Figure 4.1 demonstrates the age distribution of the participating clients. The age range of clients was 19 to 43 years. Overall, the mean age of clients was 26.7 years. This figure was slightly skewed as it included a forty-three year old who participated in the Project. Nevertheless, 82% (\ll =14) of clients were under the age of thirty years. This mean age was substantially higher than the mean age of 22 years revealed among the total population of first visit female attendees to the Contact Centre over a three year time period (Cox and Lawless, 2000). This can be explained by the fact that all clients who agreed to participate in the Women's Health Project were regular attendees to the Contact Centre and were well established within their drug using behaviour.







4.2.2 Home Circumstances

Table 4.1 illustrates the current type of accommodation reported by the participating clients.

Ту	vpe T	otal
ommodation	n	%
. (1	5)	29
ily Home	4)	23
al Authority Flat/House	2)	12
Friends	2)	12
tel (2	2)	12
ping Rough	2)	12
at ·	-	-
ate Rented House/Flat/Bed-sit	-	-
er .	-	-
	-	

According to the various accommodation types reported above, the majority of clients reported being currently homeless (65%).⁴ Figure 4.2 below illustrates the experience of homelessness among this client group by virtue of their reported accommodation type. Sixty five percent of the female clients (n=1) reported being currently homeless in comparison to 35% (n=6) who were not.

FIGURE 4.2 HOUSING STATUS OF CLIENTS



Very often the housing circumstances within which drug users find themselves can further compound or place their health at risk. For example, many drug users by virtue of their insecure living arrangements may be more susceptible to homelessness and as such are doubly disadvantaged in that they are at greater risk of a range of both physical and mental health complaints. The following quote highlights the experience of one homeless female client who is also pregnant.

/ worry about sleeping on the streets. Many of a time I've been asleep on the street and the police come along and kick us to get up and I'd be terrified I'd get a kick in the stomach. I got pneumonia on the street I was terrified something was going to happen the baby. Being homeless it's very hard to keep you're health in good condition like you only try to keep yourself in good condition.

(27 year-old Female Rough Sleeper)

Furthermore a substantial minority of female clients reported sharing their current accommodation with an injecting drug user. Over a third of female clients (n=6, 35%) reported to be in such a high risk social

⁴ For the purpose of this research homeless female clients were defined as those who reported living in a hostel, a B&B, a squat, staying with friends or sleeping rough.



environment in terms of close proximity to other injecting drug users. This figure is similar to that recorded within the treated female drug using population which indicates that women drug users are more likely to be living with a drug using partner. An analysis of the National Drug Treatment Reporting System data for 1998 illustrate that 36% of women reported living with a drug user compared to 22% of men (Moran *et al*, 1999) A high proportion of female clients also reported staying in emergency accommodation such as, hostels and B&B's, in which exclusion policies and sanctions for engagement in drug use are commonly applied Consequently, some of these clients may actually be unaware of others' drug using status and so this figure could be underestimated within the study.

4.2.3 Childcare Responsibilities

Figure 4.3 illustrates that the majority clients (65%; n=11) reported having children, 2 of whom reported being pregnant again at the time of interview. An additional 2 clients were also currently expecting their first child On average those who reported having children, were 19 years on the birth of their first child with a mean of 2 children per female client (range 1 to 4 children).



The majority of clients reported having child-care responsibility. However, in some cases, female clients felt that due to their present chaotic drug use, their children were better catered for by their extended family or by other arrangements, such as foster care. The following quote from a female client states that her daughter's needs are best met by others until she can manage to rebuild her life.

Me five year old daughter is with me ma I can't look after her at the moment, just until I try to build myself up, up a little bit. I'm barely able to look after myself at the moment.

(24 year old female client)

Another client recalled how she felt when she found out she was pregnant with her son. At that time she states that she was injecting large quantities of heroin and was very fearful of the consequence of her drug use on her ability to care for the child;

Yeah I found out when I was five weeks they test you up the road and I found out there and then, like I knew I was, I got caught straight away I was only out of prison. Although I knew I was, but when she handed me the piece of paper I started roaring crying and I had the drugs worst than ever. Eventhough I wanted the baby I was afraid I wouldn 't be able to cope. It was in me head that social workers would take the baby away. Now that I'm off the drugs I can see things a lot clearer.

(Female client on methadone maintenance)

4.3 Drug Use

4.3.1 Drug Using History

All participating clients were asked to provide some details regarding their past drug using patterns. They were firstly asked to report on the age of first injecting and the first drug with which they had ever injected. *Figure* 4.4 demonstrates the age of first reported drug use. It conveys that the majority of female clients had



commenced their injecting drug use prior to 25 years of age («=15; 88%), with over a third reporting intravenous drug use before the age of 20 years. The mean age of first injecting was 22 years (range 17-38 years). All clients reported heroin as being the first drug injected.



However, as illustrated by *Figure 4.4* above, one client reported having commenced heroin use at the age of thirty-eight. She recalls how the loss of her home and her subsequent accommodation in a hostel had caused her to commence using heroin;

Thirty eight I went on drugs, because I couldn't cope with being homeless [...]. I wouldn't blame anyone, nobody stuck a needle in my arm, it was just the pressure of being homeless, like gettin' married at 20 and having me own home for so long and having your own space, I couldn't relate to the hostel, I just couldn't handle it [...]. I was sitting in the hostel one day and there was this girl sitting down and she looked very relaxed and chilled out, so I said give us a bit of what you 're on', I didn't mean heroin, I don't know what I even meant, so then I took it and I was up in heaven somewhere. I didn't care that I was homeless, I didn't care about the cold.

(Homeless Female Client; Presently Rough Sleeping)

4.3.2 Current Drug Use

Clients were asked to detail their drug use over the previous four weeks. *Table 4.5* illustrates that the majority of female clients («=9; 53%) reported heroin as their primary drug of choice. The main route of administration of this drug was injecting with only one client reporting skinpopping and another smoked the drug. This was followed by methadone (47%) the majority of whom reported being currently on prescribed methadone.



Seventy six percent of female clients («=13) were poly drug users reporting a range of secondary drugs including cannabis and cocaine in addition to a variety of tablets such as benzos, valium and dalmane. *Table* 4.2 below illustrates the nature of secondary drugs used by the majority of clients.

	Seconda	
	n	%
Heroin	(2)	15
Methadone	(2)	15
Dalmane	(2)	15
Cannabis	(2)	15
Cocaine	(1)	8
Benzodiazepines	(1)	8
Prescribed VaLium	(1)	8
Sleeping Tablets	(1)	8
Alcohol	(1)	8

TABLE U.2 SECONDARY DRUGS USEQ

Clients were also asked whether they were presently in receipt of prescribed methadone. *Table 4.3* below illustrates that over three quarters of the clients (76%) were in receipt of prescribed methadone, of whom a substantial proportion had not regarded it as either their primary or secondary drug of choice within the last four weeks. A third of those who were on prescribed methadone were also pregnant at the time of the interview which may also bias the figures.⁵

	Total	
Pres. Methadone	n	%
Yes	(13)	76
No	(4)	U

Their current drug use was also often complemented by the continuous use of tablets, which sometimes featured neither as a primary or secondary drug of choice. For these clients, the use of tablets was a constant drug using pattern. The female client quote below demonstrates how the use of tablets preceded her first use of heroin;

/ was strung out on tablets for years that was even before heroin when I was a kid like.

(Female client; 31 years)

Another client reported how accessibility to, and availability of tablets on the street has impacted on her increased use of tablets. The extent and chaotic nature of her use is evidenced by the fact that she was obliged to sell her prescribed methadone in exchange for tablets.

Everyone around here is takin' them, the tablets just make me mad [.....] I wish they weren 't in me face as much because I wouldn 't take them then do ye know what I mean.

⁵ Female drug users who are pregnant are encouraged and facilitated onto a methadone treatment programme as early as possible in their pregnancy. Entry is through a fast track system where their situation is regarded as a priority case for methadone treatment.


So, what kind of tablets do you usually take?

All sorts, all sorts like ye know anything I can get me hands on, I got week-end takeaways off the clinic and I sold the whole lot to this guy who promised me tablets the week-end gone, and I didn 't have anything, so from Friday 2.00 to Monday 2.001 was going through withdrawals all week-end, crying me eyes out [.....] When I'm on tablets I am very violent, very violent, ye know I used to beat me previous boyfriend for a number of years, he used to be on benzos aswell it changed his whole personality, it's evil.

(Regular female attendee; 28 years)

4.3.3 Prescribed Medication

Considering the high usage of psychotropic drugs by females which has being reported across numerous European countries (EMCDDA, 2000), it was necessary to determine the extent to which participating clients used other prescribed medication, excluding methadone. As *Figure 4.6* demonstrates, nearly a half of the clients («=8; 47%) interviewed reported being currently on other prescribed medication. The majority were on *some* form of anti-depressants or sleeping tablets.





According to the vast majority of clients, prescribed tablets were easily obtained, if required, especially within the Dublin Area. The quote below conveys the ease with which prescribed medication can be made available to, and sourced by a client;

Its so easy to get prescribed valuum or whatever, ye just say 'look I've just came from England', ye just go up to the doctor and say ye want tablets and they 'd prescribe them for ye, like I know the doctors, I know most of the doctors that do it.

(Homeless female youth; 19 yrs)

Clients were also asked how long they had been on prescribed medication. Of those currently on prescribed medication, 76% (n=6) reported being on it for in excess of three months.

TABLE UM FREQUENCY OF USE OF

PRESCRIBED MEDICATION				
	То	tal		
Frequency	n	%		
Less than 1 month	(1)	12		
1-2 months	1.00	878		
2-3 months	(1)	12		
More than 3 months	(6)	76		

Prescribed medication is often sought by the client due to personal difficulties such as being depressed or feeling unable to cope with particular life events. The following quote demonstrates the events which caused

her to seek prescribed medication, more specifically anti-depressants. It also conveys that having been medication for more than two years, she is aware of the difficulties in ceasing its use. This is expressed by effect of missing two days of her anti-depressants;

Well I thought they weren 't doin'any good for me but when I miss two or three days I feel very down. So I suppose they are helping me like do ye know what I mean. I found me boyfriend hanging then in 1999 like they put me on them cause my brother hung himself in prison then three weeks later. After that I buried me baby and all. When I don't take them for two or three days everything just gets on top of me, do ye know what I mean, I would find them hard to give up. The doctor says to give it another six or seven months and then see how I am after that.

(24 year old female client)

Similarly the quote below illustrates that although she is not currently on any prescribed medication, i experienced taking anti-depressants for a short period of time within the last year. Unlike the previous die she reported being able to successfully discontinue her use of anti-depressants without immense difficulty. 5 notes that the follow-on care which she received from her G.P had a positive impact on her success outcome;

I was just on anti-depressants when I got pregnant, I was just on them for a good few months so I wouldn 'tfall back of depression, just like on the doctors advice ye know what I mean. He said that if I ever felt going back into that state again I could just go up and talk to the doctor in the clinic and he would prescribe them again do ye know what I mean. I was only on one a day and I didn 't find them addictive at all and I just came straight off them, I just gave them up and it was grand I didn't need them. The doctor was seeing me around two or three weeks after it just to make sure I didn 'tfeel like I was going to fall back into it. Never got any side-effects or anything they just calmed me down and when I came off them every thing just went back to normal.

(27 year-old mother of two)

UM Drug Using Risk Behaviour

4.4.1 Injecting Risk Behaviour

Over a half of the female clients interviewed (53%) reported that they were currently injecting either th primary or secondary drug of choice. *Table 4.5* indicates the most common injecting sites reported by clier The majority of clients (56%) reported injecting in their arm. However a substantial minority report injecting in particularly problematic sites such as the groin and the neck.

	То	tal
Injecting Site	n	%
Arm	(5)	56
Groin	(2)	56 22
Hands	(1)	11
Neck	(1)	11

All clients were asked whether they injected themselves. *Figure 4.7* illustrates that 67% (n=6) reported alwas injecting themselves, as one female client reported, "no I never let anyone inject me that's one thing I'm tola against it". Only 22% (n=2) reported never injecting themselves.





Table 4.6 below shows the proportion of clients who reported experiencing difficulties finding an injecting site. Less than a half of them reported 'never' experiencing problems finding an injecting site with the majority having problems injecting either 'always' or 'sometimes'.

TABLE 4.6 PROBLEMS FINDING INJECTING SITES

	Το	tal
Problems- IV Site	n	%
Always	(4)	44.5
Sometimes	(1)	11
Never	(4)	44.5

According to one female client, the fact that she commonly experiences difficulties injecting has meant that she rarely injects herself and therefore has to rely on others, in particular her boyfriend, to locate her injecting site:

If I was using I'd use in this hand, I've no veins left in that hand, unless I have but I just can't get them. My boyfriend gets the veins for me, I can't get them myself.

(31 year old female client)

4\5 Sexual Risk Behaviour

Information was also collected on the sexual behaviour of female clients. Overall 59% («=10) reported being currently sexually active with only one client reporting in excess of one partner within the last three months⁶ Figure 4.8 below illustrates that 82% of clients (n=4) reported having a regular sexual partner and 47% (w=8) had a regular partner who was a current drug user.



This question was included to indicate whether or not clients were currently involved in prostitution, as it was not deemed appropriate to ask the female participants this question directly. However, it is likely that, based on the information above, that clients assumed it to mean 'regular' partners as opposed to 'casual' partners, therefore underestimating the extent of some female clients' sexual behaviour practices.



Clients were also asked what was their most frequent method of contraception. Of those clients who reported being currently sexually active («=10) only 3 female clients reported currently using a form of contraception *Figure 4.9* shows that 70% of female clients reported not using any form of contraception at the time (interview.



One regular female attendee of the Contact Centre who was currently using contraception, reported that si had commenced using condoms after experiencing a sexually transmitted infection but then ceased to contin with her new regular partner. This substantiates international research which highlights the difficulties introducing condom use into a relationship (McKeganey and Barnard, 1991).

After I caught it [chlamydia] I started using condoms and then I stopped because Fm on the pill and it's a new boyfriend and he doesn 't want to use them [condoms].

(19 year-old female)

Figure 4.10 illustrates the experience of sexually transmitted infections (STI) reported by female clients, conveys that (82%; $n = |4\rangle$) of clients reported never having had a STI in the past. Of those who did report su an infection, only one client reported having experienced a STI in the last year.



FIGURE 4.10 EXPERIENCE OF STI'S

This low reporting of sexually transmitted infections may represent only those who have presented for an 5 test and are aware of their status. The following client conveys how she accidentally became aware of her 5

positive status;

/ had a sexually transmitted disease and pneumonia, infection of the kidneys and a chest infection but I didn 't know like, just when I OD [overdosed] and I came around the doctor told me, that's when I found out.

(Regular Female Attendee)

It may be that a large number have never been tested or not recently tested, as this information was recorded. As will be illustrated in the following chapter, the number of requests made, and subsequent ti undertaken among the female clients for sexually transmitted infections was extremely high, indicatin strong demand for these tests.



4.6 Summary and Conclusion

This chapter has presented an overview of the profile of female clients who agreed to participate in the Women's Health Project. Despite this profile, it is not known to what extent these clients are representative of other female regular attendees of both the Contact Centre and other similar drug services. The high levels of clients in receipt of prescribed methadone is surprising, even taking into account the proportion of women who are pregnant. Despite this finding, their drug using practices can be regarded as no less chaotic given their sustained use of psychotropic drugs and regular use of other illicit drugs (in particular heroin). These polydrug using patterns among drug users reflect international literature which highlights that the problem of female drug use is one of large and growing proportions.

Nearly two thirds of female clients reported being currently 'out of home'. Both national (Cox and Lawless, 1999) and international studies (Flemen, 1997) have illustrated high levels of homelessness among the drugusing population. Moreover, studies have continuously shown that homeless individuals are at increased risk of, and experience a greater range of health problems than the general population (Pleace and Quilgars, 1996). Among the drug using population, unstable housing conditions can lead to increased risk behaviour. The lack of predictable and safe places to inject, enhanced dependency on peers and the chaotic and depressing lifestyle all contribute towards creating a high risk social environment for the drug user. Homelessness among drug using women presents an additional health risk for the women, which is beyond the effects of drug use itself (Roberston, 1991). For example, exclusion policies based on a woman's drug using status can prevent them from accessing emergency shelters or transitional housing which are often settings in which access to appropriate health care, welfare advocacy and other essential services are promoted and initiated (Robertson, 1991). Furthermore, homeless drug using pregnant women by virtue of their limited contact with services and 'hard to reach' profile tend to delay prenatal care, thereby potentially risking the health of the woman and the child.



Self-Reported Health Complaints and Contact with Medical Services

5.1 Subjective Health Assessment

This information is intended to examine clients' subjective health and well-being and to complement the objective measure of health assessment undertaken by the medical personnel. Subjective health assessment asks people to report on their own health, illnesses and functional status. In measuring the subjective experience of health, it is assumed that individuals often experience specific complaints that cannot be measured by objective tests alone (Albrecht, 1994). Similarly, according to Jenkinson (1994) it is also possible for an individual to have a serious medical complaint without having any subjective awareness of their illness. Consequently, the employment of various measurements of health assessment cannot be underestimated and so it was deemed appropriate to include the following self-reported health information on female clients.

5.1.1 General Health

As outlined in Chapter Three, the use of a symptom checklist, based on the Opiate Treatment Index (OTI) as developed by Darke *et al* (1991) was employed. This symptom checklist included a range of health complaints such as physical, neurological, cardio-respiratory and musculo-skeletal complaints. Female clients were asked to report on their experience of these complaints from three different time periods; in the last week, month, and 3 months. Overall a large proportion of clients (w=16; 94%) reported experiencing a health complaint within the week prior to their presentation at the Women's Health Project. Furthermore, all of the participants also reported having at least one of the cited medical complaints during the last three months. More specifically, a large number of clients reported experiencing disruptive sleep patterns especially for lengthy periods of time. The following quotes highlight the extent to which female clients regard sleep problems and constant tiredness as a familiar health complaint;

/ always fall asleep, sleep a lot, I was often accused of being stoned out of me face. If somebody asked me if I was using I'd say yeah I was using, but I'd be genuinely tired, I nod off and waken it was like a heavy goofing I'd be in, it happens to me constantly. It just comes over ye.



(27 year old iemale)

I'm very tired all the time, sixteen hours a day that's not an exaggeration, if me boyfriend was here he 'd tell you the same thing as soon as I get up out of bed I just want to get back in, I'm just tired and tired all the time. But I do have to go to work, and I'm late for work sometimes or I miss some days, even when I go to work I'm sittin' down, tired all the time.

(Female client, mother of two)

	We	ek	Мо	nth	3 Mc	onths
Complaint	n	%	n	%	n	%
Sleep Problems	(14)	82	(15)	88	(10)	59
Constant Fatigue	(10)	59	(11)	65	(6)	35
Weight Change	(8)	47	(8)	47	(7)	41
Shortness of Breath	(7)	41	(7)	41	(8)	47
Poor Appetite	(6)	35	(6)	35	(7)	41
Nausea/Vomiting	(8)	47	(6)	35	(5)	29
Stomach Pain	(7)	41	(6)	35	(5)	29
Back Pain	(6)	35	(6)	35	(5)	29
Headaches	(5)	29	(7)	41	(5)	29
Dizziness/Faintness	(3)	18	(2)	12	(3)	18
Skin Wounds/Infection	(4)	23	(4)	23	(5)	29
Dental Problems	(2)	12	(1)	6	(1)	6
Eye/Ear	(1)	6	(1)	6	(1)	6
Foot Problems	(1)	6	(1)	6	(1)	6

TABLE 5.1 SELF-REPORTED HEALTH COMPLAINTS

Table 5.1 above illustrates the extent to which clients reported having experienced a range of physical health complaints within the last week, month, and 3 months. As already stated a large proportion of clients reported sleep problems $(n=\langle 0; 59\%)$ and constant fatigue (n=6; 35%) as a primary concern over the last three months. Other physical complaints such as, nausea/vomiting, stomach pain, poor appetite and shortness of breath were also reported by a large majority of clients.

5.1.2 Psychological Health

Numerous reports have cited the high incidence of mental health such as anxiety and depression among drug users (Hall and Farrell, 1997). Clinical studies have indicated that approximately 50% of opiate dependent individuals report life-time depression, and female drug users, in particular, have been shown to be more likely to report depression (Marsden *et al*, 2000). Therefore all participating clients were asked to provide self-reported information on a number of psychological complaints. In this study, reported mental health complaints were extremely high with 94% (n=16) of the female clients reporting having experienced one of the mentioned psychological health complaints within the three months prior to interview. *Table 5.2* below illustrates that over three-quarters of respondents reported suffering from depression (n=14; 82%). Fifty six percent reported feeling isolated with over half of the respondents also feeling unable to cope.⁷

These figures are based on a subjective evaluation of their psychological health. The use of a number of objective indicators of psychiatric health, such as, a psychiatric assessment or admittance to a psychiatric hospital, failed to be included within the research instruments unless mentioned by the clients themselves with reference to previous experience of hospitalisation.



	Ye	es
Psychological Complaint	n	%
Depression	(14)	82
Anxiety	(11)	65
Feeling Unable to Cope	(10)	59
Feeling Isolated	(9)	56

TABLE 5.2 SELF-REPORTED PSYCHOLOGICAL COMPLAINTS

5.1.3 Perceived Health Status

All clients were asked a number of questions regarding their perceived health status. By allowing individuals to evaluate their own health status, it can contribute towards reducing the complexities involved in assessing health. Individuals may often be aware of a range of health complaints yet still regard their overall health as good (Jenkinson *et al*, 1994). Clients were firstly asked to assess their physical health status on a five-point scale ranging from 'very bad' to 'very good'. *Table 5.3* illustrates that nearly half of clients (47%) reported that their physical health was 'O.K', while 41% reported that their health as 'bad' or 'very bad'.

	Total		
Rate Health	n	%	
Very Bad	(3)	18	
Bad	(4)	23	
O.K	(8)	47	
Good	(2)	12	
Very Good	-	-	

TABLE 5.3 PERCEIVED PHYSICAL HEALTH STATUS

Clients were also asked to rate their current health status in comparison to that of a year ago on a similar fivepoint scale. As demonstrated in *Table 5.4* below, a substantial minority of them regarded their general health as being 'much better'.

	То	tal
Rate Health	п	%
Much Better	(7)	41
Somewhat Better	(1)	6
About the Same	(3)	18
Somewhat Worse	(2)	12
Much Worse	(4)	23

TABLE 5.4 PERCEIVED CHANGES IN HEALTH STATUS

5.2 Drug Related Problems - Technique Specific

Clients were asked to report on the level of injecting-related complaints and more specifically their experience of such complaints within the last week, month, and 3 months. Of those injecting, 67% («=6) reported having had experienced at least one of the injecting related complaints listed below. In addition, over half the clients reported experiencing an injecting- related complaint within the last week/month with 56% reporting a complaint within the previous three months.



	Week		ek	Month		3 Months	
Injecting Complaints	_	n	%	n	%	n	%
Overdoses		• •	_	-	_	-	_
Abscesses		4	36	3	27	3	27
Dirty Hit		-	-	-	-	1	,9
Scarring/Bruising		6	54	6	54	5	45
Diff. Finding Veins		5	45	6	54	5	45

TABLE 5.5 SELF-REPORTED INJECTING - RELATED COMPLAINTS

Table 5.5 above illustrates that both bruising of the injecting site and difficulty finding veins were the most reported injecting related complaints. Moreover, these complaints were reported to be both continuous and consistent within their drug using practices. The following quote highlights these difficulties which are commonly experienced by female injectors which are indicative of unsafe injecting and drug using techniques;

First I started using in me hand but I've no veins left, so I started using in me ankles, oh my god the pain, I actually blew me ankle ands the pain of it, it was throbbing......I even let someone go into me neck once, you don't care you need it so badly you 'd go anywhere.

(Female Street Worker)

The lack of immediate care and attention for injecting-related complaints such as abscesses meant that they often developed into greater problems with further health implications for the female client.

The first very bad abscesses I had was two years ago I nearly lost my hand, the pressure, my hand blew up so big, it was like another hand on top of a hand, me fingers had all gone black.

INTERVIEWER: IS that where you injected in your hand?

Right there. I missed a hit that's what caused the abscess_/ was after leaving it for a while I thought it would just burst itself and I cleaned it and all but it didn 't I had to go to hospital.

INTERVIEWER: Did you go to the doctor first or did you go straight to the hospital?

/ went straight to X [a hospital] it was in the night time actually and I couldn 't stick the pain I had the hand on the heater to stop the pain, I thought it was stopping the pain I was getting some kind of relief. Believe me I never used as much heroin in all my life as when I did when I had the abscess to kill the pain.....it was that bad, it was ugly, I was even embarrassed to show it, it was ugly. The worst thing I had ever witnessed in my life.

(26 year old female client)

The next quote by a female client shows the seriousness of such complaints when left unattended. It refers to a conversation which occurred between a nurse and a female client at a methadone clinic.

I gave me first urine last Monday in Xfor the methadone....when I went to get the second urine they said I was a priority case in a sense. She said [the nurse] it's surprising that you have your legs, that they haven't fallen off ye yet with the septicaemia being so bad from skinpopping.

INTERVIEWER: Did you know that your septicaemia was so bad?

/ knew they were bad but I often come down here [Merchants Quay], she [the hospital nurse] offered to dress me legs but it would have been a bit more embarrassing with a new nurse, but I did, I pulled down my trousers and showed her and she said 'oh my god amputation is in line here', so that's after frightening me.

(Regular Female Client)



5.3 Blood Borne Infections

5.3.1 Hepatitis B/C

All clients were asked to state whether or not they had ever been tested for Hepatitis B or C. *Figure 5.1* indicates that all clients with the exception of one reported having previously being tested for either hepatitis B or C, or both, in the past.

FIGURE 5.1 EVER TESTED FOR HEPATITIS



Clients were also asked to report on the length of time since their last test. *Table 5.6* illustrates that only 25% (n=4) of clients reported not having had a hepatitis test within the last 2 years. The fact that a large proportion of clients are pregnant or in receipt of prescribed methadone within the vicinity, means that they can avail of hepatitis screening at any time within their clinic. This may account for the high level of reported hepatitis testing among this client group.

	He	Hep C		
Length of Time	п	%	п	%
Less than 12 months	(10)	62.5	(10)	62.5
1-2 years	(2)	12.5	(2)	12.5
2-3 years	(2)	12.5	(2)	12.5
More than 3 years	(2)	12.5	(2)	12.5

TABLE 5.6 LENGTH OF TIME SINCE LAST HEPATITIS TESTING

Table 5.7 illustrates whether or not clients reported ever having had either hepatitis or jaundice in the past. It also conveys the extent to which clients were aware of these infections prior to undertaking the medical intervention. Sixty five percent reported being hepatitis C positive at the time of the interview, all of whom had received an official diagnosis of their status $(n=\l)$. Only a minority reported currently having had hepatitis B (18%) or jaundice (12%).

	Jaur	ndice	Hepa	titis B	Нера	titis C
Complaint	n	%	n	%	n	%
Yes	(2)	12	(3)	18	(11)	(65)
No	(15)	88	(U)	82	(6)	(35)
Total	17	100	17	100	17	100

TABLE 5.7 HEPATITIS (B AND C) AND JAUNDICE

Clients reported having acquired the hepatitis infection through a range of both injecting and sexual risl behaviours. The client below shows how the difficulties of financing her chaotic heroin use had caused her t(engage in streetwork which resulted in the transmission of hepatitis C;



INTERVIEWER: DO you know how you got hepatitis?

When I started injecting heroin, me habit went up so I ended up starting to work on the street, that's how I got it, I do work on the street to collect money for the gear and the drink and whatever.

(Female Streetworker)

It is often argued that the close proximity of female drug users to other injecting drug users (especially an injecting regular sexual partner), can place them at greater risk. The following quote however highlights the protective nature of such a relationship. She states that as a result of the imprisonment of her partner, she began sharing injecting equipment with others and thus acquired hepatitis;

Yeah I have the hepatitis C_I got it from sharing. Me boyfriend was locked up at the time that I got it so I know even who I got that off.

(27 year-old female)

Reports from clients indicated that very often both the diagnosis and disclosure of hepatitis occurred in an ad hoc manner. Clients' contact with external agencies such as drug services, probation and welfare services meant that these services were sometimes involved in, or initiated, the required type of medical contact for the client. The following statements convey the circumstances under which numerous female clients reported hearing of their hepatitis health complaint;

INTERVIEWER: When were you diagnosed with hepatitis C?

/ was in X [a prison] at the time and you know the way for the medics you have to go and get tested so they know if you have anything in case you bleed, they always wear surgical gloves anyway no matter what, they have to know whether you have hepatitis or HIV.

(28 year-old Female Client)

/ only found out I had hepatitis when I found out I was pregnant they test you for the virus and thank god I was negative but I had the hepatitis. I still judge that as a disease because if you ill-treat it, it can go bad.

(Regular Female Client)

Clients also reported a lack of sensitivity and understanding in the manner in which they were informed of their hepatitis status. Moreover, they were given limited information regarding the follow-on care and treatment of the infection.

INTERVIEWER: In terms of hepatitis B and C, who told you, your doctor or the hospital?

X[a hospital] told me_They were and weren 't nice about it. If I had a problem or questions to ask, some of the nurses could be abrupt or not answer.

(19 year-old Female Client)

Like when I went up there and found out I had the hepatitis the doctor turned around and very cheeky said if ye hadn 't have done that [mimed the injecting routine] ye wouldn 't have got it, he was very smart about it. That's why I don't like telling doctors about things.

(21 year-old Regular Client)

/ was just diagnosed with Hep C about a month ago, what happened was I went into me doctor got the test done and then he gave me the results back of the Hep. Now a lot of people were sayin' to me you don't have to worry about this, that and the other, but I have no information, I didn 't get no information off the doctor at the time, ye know, basically what he turned around and said to me was "it's the best one ye could get, if ye were to get any, this is



the best one ye could get because it's treated better", ye know, now that's the only information I got, he didn 't ask if I wanted counselling or anything, he didn 't give me any leaflets or anything like that.

(Homeless Female; 24 years)

In view of the risk of hepatitis B infection to injecting drug users, clients were asked whether they had received a vaccination against hepatitis B. *Figure 5.2* illustrates that 65% $(n=\1)$ reported having received the hepatitis B vaccination.



5.3.2 HIV

Clients were also asked about whether or not they had ever been tested for HIV and if so, the date of their last test. *Figure 5.3* demonstrates that 82% of the participants had previously been tested, with the majority having undertaken the test within the last 12 months as illustrated in *Table 5.8* below.



	Y	es	N	lo
HIVTesting	n	%	n	%
Less than 12 months	(9)	65	(5)	35
1-2 years	(2)	U	(12)	86
2-3 years	(2)	U	(12)	86
More than 3 years	(1)	7	(13)	93

TABLE 5.8 LENGTH OF TIME SINCE LAST HIV TEST

Clients were not asked to state their HIV status. Some clients did, however, volunteer this information during the interview, although it was not recorded. In the majority of these cases, clients referred to their known status on their last date of testing and commonly commented on not being aware of their current status. The following client recognises that she is not ready to be tested again as she has now stabilised herself on methadone and is aware of the consequences of being tested;



/ didn 't have a test for HIV since last year. I don't know what way I am this year. I'm not ready to have another test. The time I gave the last test I was on gear and ye say ' what the fuck '. Whereas now I'm more aware and you give it more thought. When you come off the drugs you start going back to the old person you were again before you were ever on drugs.

(28 year-old female client)

5.4 Medical Contact

5.4.1 Access to Medical Services

Clients were asked to state whether or not they had ever experienced any difficulties accessing medical treatment. Twenty nine percent («=5) reported that they had experienced difficulties in accessing medical treatment at some time in the past. The majority cited difficulties such as, the strict appointment times of G.P's snegsaes, and previous negative attitudes displayed by some medical service providers.

Clients were then asked whether they were currently registered with a general practitioner and if so, the extent to which the G.P's practice was geographically accessible for them. Overall, 82% were registered with a G.P. *Table 5.9* illustrates that just over a half of the clients, registered with a G.P, reported that the practice was in their locality and easily accessible to them. However, a substantial proportion of clients also reported that their G.P's practice was not geographically accessible. At times this resulted in their attendance at A&E departments or leaving their complaint unattended.

	Y	es
Registered with a G.P	n	%
Yes, in this area	(8)	47
Yes, not geographically accessible accessible	(6)	35
No	(3)	
Total	17	100

TABLE 5.9 REGISTERED WITH A G.P ANYWHERE

Table 5.10 illustrates the extent to which clients were in receipt of a medical card. It conveys that 35% of clients reported having a current medical card, with a further 35% in the process of applying for one. As outlined in Chapter One of the report, prior to the implementation of the Women's Health Project, the staff of the Contact Centre were actively involved in highlighting the importance of acquiring a medical card. Drug workers at the Contact Centre were involved in distributing medical card application forms and providing assistance to female clients in completing the forms. These interventions, no doubt, positively influenced the high numbers of female clients who reported either currently having, or being in the process of applying for a medical card.

TABLE 5.10 MEDICAL CARD

Medical Card	Y	es
	n	%
Yes, current	(6)	35
Yes, out of date	(4)	24
Process of applying	(6)	35
Other*	(1)	6

"Client was covered under her family's private health insurance



A quarter of the female clients did report that their medical card was out of date and that it was difficult t(obtain a new one. In particular, clients who were currently homeless reported that the absence of a permanen address and the tendency for homeless people to move and be moved between areas often made a medical can very difficult to obtain, as the following client conveys;

INTERVIEWER: IS it hard for you to obtain a medical card?

No it's not that. It's just that I don't have any address. Everything revolves around having an address. Nobody wants to have a drug addict living in their house. Nobody wants to rent out aflat to a drug user.

(Female Emergency Hostel Dweller)

Another client reported that it was an arduous task. She often had meant to process her form once it was completed but then tended to put it aside and forget about it.

INTERVIEWER: Why do you not have a medical card?

You get lazy, you say that okay I'll fill in the medical card form tomorrow, then tomorrow comes, you 'II say you 'II do it later on and you don't do it.

(Regular Female Client)

5.4.2 Contact with Medical Services

All clients were asked to report on their contact with various medical service providers within the three-month period prior to interview. Seventy seven percent («=13) of clients reported having had at least one contact with *i* medical service provider within this time period. As illustrated in *Table 5.11*, the level of contact reported with both the general practitioner and the pharmacist within the last three months was high, with 53% and 47% of client; reporting such contact respectively. However, it is argued that the nature of these interventions was primarily due to their drug using patterns as opposed to being a health- related complaint. In other words, the majority of client; reported this contact in order to obtain their prescribed medication, i.e., methadone or anti-depressants.

	Yes	
Service	n	%
General Practitioner	(9)	53
Pharmacist	(8)	47
Accident & Emergency	(5]'	29
Dentist	(3)	18
Gum Clinic	-	7

TABLE 5.11 CONTACT WITH MEDICAL SERVICES WITHIN LAST 3 MONTHS

Apart from obtaining prescribed medication, clients (with the exception of those who were pregnant)⁸ reported poor contact with medical service providers in terms of maintaining their overall health and well-being, as the following client conveys;

Drug addicts don't go to the doctor because they know they 've gone that far, that no matter what help they get it's not going to change them, it's not going to change their health.

(29 Year -Old Regular Female Client)

These clients reported routine contact with various maternity hospitals and were all receiving pre-natal care at the time of the interview.



One female client also reported being extremely concerned about her physical appearance as a result of her drug use and often failed to seek appropriate treatment because she was often embarrassed to present with certain complaints.

Well to be honest with you I don't even have a doctor now before I went on drugs I had a doctor, well you know both physically and personally you don't go.

(29 Year-Old Rough Sleeper)

5.4.3 Experience of Medical Services

Overall the majority of clients reported a lack of understanding and sensitivity among medical service providers in responding to their specific needs and circumstances. These attitudes influenced the treatment they received. The extent to which their drug using status impact on the care and attention they received in the post is clear from the following quotes;

In the hospital they have no time for me, or for drug addicts at all. You can see even when she was taking blood from me wrists she was actually hurting me while she was doin' it and I had to ask the nurse to stop. She hadn't a clue, she wasn't even looking where she was sticking it. She went three times into me wrists to get one vein to get some blood out of me and in the end she just went off to get somebody else, she said 'them veins have seen their day' and she started laughing.

(Regular Female Client)

When you 're brought in you 're treated okay and if they see any track marks or if they know by looking at you, they can tell by looking at you if you 're a drug addict, their whole attitude changes towards you. **

(Female Street Worker)

If they were having to clean any part [of the body] or take some blood or anything they were real afraid to touch you in case they 'd catch something, like they had gloves on them and they were being protected either way.

(25 Year-Old Mother of Two)

On the other hand, some female clients reported specific instances of favorable and sympathetic attitudes among medical service providers, as the following quotes illustrate;

The doctor said because it was me first time there [in the hospital] he said he would take good care of me and he did, he treated me with respect eventhough I was a drug user, not that I shouldn 't be, but once they hear you use drugs, gloves and everything come out.

(Regular female client)

INTERVIEWER: SO do you go to your G.P for all medical problems?

Yeah, I go to Doctor X up at the hospital at the back. He has a great interest in the drug problem aswell and anything that goes with it, he's very serious when it comes to your health aswell.

(27 year-old female client)

5.4.4 Medical Sources of References

Finally, clients were asked to state the primary means through which they usually access advice and information on medical health complaints. The first question related to their most frequent source of consultation, in terms of medical service providers. *Table 5.12* below illustrates that over a quarter of clients reported not seeking any initial source of medical assistance if they had a health complaint. They would



usually take care of the complaint themselves prior to presenting at a medical service provider as the following quote conveys;

I'd look after meself and if it got worse I'd go to the A&E or whatever. I'd leave it until it got really bad and then I'd go.

(Regular Female Attendee)

However a further 29% of clients did report that they would usually attend their general practitioner as their initial means of consultation. This consultation was highly influenced by the nature of the medical complaint and the degree to which the client felt comfortable with her general practitioner as the following quote illustrates;

Like I wouldn 't go in and ask him to do a smear test or I wouldn 't ask him to do a breast check or anything not by a man. I would tell him what way I was thinking, but about certain things I prefer to talk to a woman doctor, I usually go to him with the kids and he 'd [doctor] would check them from head to toe.

(Female Client; Mother of 3)

	Ye	es
Service	n	%
Self-Care	(5)	29
General Practitioner	(5)	29
Drugs Workers	(4)	24
Accident and Emergency	(3)	18

TABLE 5.12 SOURCE OF CONSULTATION ON HEALTH ISSUES

Table 5.13 presents the usual means by which clients access information on health related issues. Only a small proportion of female clients reported having nowhere to obtain such information. The majority of clients reported receiving information within the setting of the drug clinic, either from the drug workers themselves or from leaflets/posters which are commonly publicized. One client stated that she usually obtains her information *"from the walls of the drug clinic"*.

	Y	es
Service	n	%
Drug Clinic	(4)	23.5
Hospital	(3)	17.5
Family/Friends	(3)	17.5
Books/Magazines	(3)	17.5
Nowhere	(2)	12
Pharmacy	(1)	6
Public Health Nurse	[1]	6

TABLE	5.13 SOURCE OF	INFORMATION ON	HEALTH ISSUES
-------	----------------	----------------	---------------

Other sources included information from books/magazines, A&E departments, friends and family and their local pharmacist.

Like I'd get some advice from the chemist, like if painkillers have codine, me urines it'd be dirty so I just ask the chemist for certain information especially like that.



(Female Client; 30 years)

/ usually read about it, or else I might ask the nurse in the clinic or the counsellor.

(31 year old Female Client)

5.5 Summary and Conclusion

This chapter has provided clients' self-reported information on a range of health complaints. Firstly, there is a high incidence of self-reported psychiatric complaints among the female clients who participated in the Women's Health Project. Findings illustrate that 94% (\ll =16) of female clients experienced at least one of the cited psychological complaints within the three months prior to interview. More specifically, 82% (n=14) of clients reported depression, 65% (\ll =11) anxiety, 59% (ω =10) of clients felt unable to cope and 56% (n=9) reported isolation. These findings support international literature which highlights that drug users represent a high risk group in terms of mental health problems, in particular depression (Kokkevi and Stefanis, 1993). Furthermore, the rate of co-occurring substance use and mental health problems is relatively high among the female drug using population (NIDA, 1998). The fact that over a half of the women (65%) also reported being homeless at the time of interview is consistent with national studies which have shown that depression is the most common mental health complaint among homeless women. Over 70% of all respondents reported depressive illness in one Irish study (Smith *et al*, 2001). Compared to results obtained from a similar study among homeless men (Feeney, 2000), homeless women were proportionally more likely to report all psychological health complaints (Smith *et al*, 2001).

Injecting-related complaints were also reported by over half of the female clients (67%; n=6) at the time of the interview with 56% reporting a complaint for the previous three months. Scarring of the injecting site, difficulty finding veins and abscesses were consistent complaints during the previous week, month and 3 months prior to interview. Such difficulties can place the drug user at increased risk as it can produce a reliance on others to inject her and she may be more likely to share injecting equipment (Mullen and Barry, 1999).

The level of access to, and experience of contact with medical service providers was also dealt with within this chapter. Although levels of medical contact were high with both the general practitioner and the pharmacist, this contact was highly influenced by whether or not clients were in receipt of prescribed methadone. Overall, clients reported negative attitudes and a lack of understanding and sensitivity by different services in response to their health complaints.



The Medical Intervention

This chapter will examine the implementation of the Women's Health Project over the eight-week period and will detail more specifically the nature and extent of the medical interventions undertaken. As an investigative research project, these medical interventions sought to explore the current health status among a cohort ol female drug users by undertaking a detailed clinical assessment of their health in addition to a range ol laboratory tests. The data derived from this investigation provides supplementary information to the subjective accounts of their health status which are detailed in the previous chapter.

6.1 Level of Participation

As outlined in Chapter One of the Report, the Women's Health Project operated one morning a week within the Contact Centre of Merchants Quay Ireland. As a low threshold service, this environment was conducive to attracting a large number of female participants, who by virtue of their presentation to the service, would be generally regarded as chaotic in their drug using patterns and behaviour. Of the 17 female clients whc initially participated in the research element of the study, over 88% («=15) of these clients also agreed tc undertake the clinical assessment which was carried out by the medical team. *Table 6.1* below illustrates the frequency of visits by the participating female clients. In total, 33 interventions were made which includes *li* follow-up interventions undertaken with 11 clients within the eight-week period.



TABLE 6.1 FREQUENCY OF ATTENDANCE BY CLIENTS

■ I New Intervention; • Follow-up Intervention



Although all clients were informed in detail of the research purpose of Women's Health Project, the majority of clients agreed to participate for their own specific reasons, as the following quotes convey;

/ was just diagnosed with Hep C about a month ago, [...] I've heard about it from other people comin' into clinics like this and they 've told me different things, but I'd rather hear it from a doctor, from a doctor's point of view, the doctor it'd know more about it than most people that's why I came here.

(Homeless female client, 27 years)

I got a smear done in X[a hospital] and they lost the results so I'm anxious to get it done again. I want to get it done here cause me friend got it done and she reckoned it was okay, so I want to get it done here. Rather than goin' back to X and havin' another repeat because I was very worried when I was gettin'it done the first time, like I'm one of those worriers, I worry about everything ye know. The fact that I got it done with a man aswell was a bit nerve-racking for me. I'd rather get it done by a woman because she knows what's she doing.

(Female client, 28 years)

It was also perceived by some clients that the provision of a health care service within a drug organisation would be more sympathetic to their current drug status and also to any health complaints which might result from their drug using behaviour. The following quotes from the staff of the Women's Health Project illustrate these concerns;

They find that sometimes their own doctor doesn't understand. I had a client in this morning who said 'my doctor doesn't understand me injecting and ruining myself. That's not what they want to hear when they go there. Just accept them where they are and treat them accordingly.

(Female Nurse/Drugs Worker)

One of them [female client] said to me that she had been to doctors and that there was none of this 'eyeball to eyeball contact'. She said 'at least you 're looking at me, you 're talking to me, you 're seeing me'. I was a little bit taken aback by that.

(Doctor of the Womens Health Project)

The majority of follow-up visits were initiated by the client with the intention of obtaining results of laboratory tests. These visits provided the client with an opportunity to highlight other emerging health issues or concerns. Furthermore, as clients became familiar with the existence of the project, they were more inclined to re-present. *Table 6.2* below presents the nature of the follow-up visits which were undertaken by the 11

	Y	es	
Follow-Up Intervention	n	%	
Results	(11)	100	
Specific Gynecological Complaints	(6)	55	
Referral	(5)	45	
Contraceptive & Reproductive Health Advice	(5)	45	
Other Health Education	(4)	36	
Injecting and Vein Care Advice	(2)	18	
Wound Dressing	(2)	18	
Drug and Alcohol Information	(1)	9	

TABLE 6.2 TYPE OF FOLLOW-UP INTERVENTION



Private Lives - Public Issues

clients who re-presented.⁹ As illustrated by Table 6.2, a large proportion of follow-up visits (55%;n=6) included dealing with various gynecological complaints among the clients. This may reflect the fact tha clients were more likely to discuss such complaints as they were aware that the doctor was a gynecologist. L addition, 3 of the clients were pregnant.

6.2 Medical Assessment

As described in Chapter Three of the Report, a medical assessment form was designed for the purpose of thi study and was completed by the doctor both during and upon completion of each consultation with a femal client. The information collected provided a comprehensive overview of their current health status which wa clinically assessed. It also included the results of a range of laboratory tests undertaken during the interventior

This section will present information regarding clients' past medical history, surgical history, a review c systems and clients' gynecological issues.

6.2.1 History/Present Illness

Clients were firstly asked to report whether or not, they themselves, or any of their family members, currentl experienced or had ever experienced, various diagnostic health complaints.¹⁰ *Table 6.3* below illustrates tib extent of these health complaints among clients and their family members.

	Individual		Family	
Complaint	n	%	n	%
Asthma	(6)	38	(5)	31
Diabetes	-	-	(5)	31
Epilepsy	(3)	19	(2)	13
Heart Trouble	(1)	6	(2)	13
Hepatitis	(9)	56	-	-
HIV	-	-	-	-
High Blood Pressure	(1)	6	(6)	38
Malaria	-	-	-	-
Mental Illness	(13)	81	(3)	19
Tuberculosis	-	-	-	-
Venereal Disease	-	-	-	-

TABLE 6.3 PERSONAL/FAMILY EXPERIENCE OF DIAGNOSTIC HEALTH COMPLAINTS

The table above illustrates that a large proportion of clients (81%) reported experiencing either presently, < in the past, some form of mental illness. Depression was cited as the most common complaint with 4 clien reporting very severe depression which had led to suicide attempts in the past. Over a third of clients (38%) reported being asthmatic with a further 19% being epileptic.

6.2.2 Surgical History

All clients were asked if they were ever hospitalised in the past. Eighty one percent of clients (n=13) reports having being in hospital for a time. Clients reported being admitted for a range of complaints including bir

¹⁰ Although questions on hepatitis and HIV were previously included in the administration of the Health Information Fon it was considered necessary to ask clients once again to report on these complaints to ensure that all the releva information was available in order to undertake a comprehensive medical assessment.



⁹ This information is only compiled on the basis of written reports of the follow-up interventions. Verbal information whii may have been exchanged to indicate the nature of the follow-up intervention is not included.

of a child, road accident or routine surgical operations such as tonsils or appendices. However 3 clients had to be hospitalised as a result of suicide attempts in the past.

6.2.3 Review of Systems

Table 6.4 below presents a summary of the review of systems which were undertaken among clients. Results were divided into three categories; 'normal', 'abnormal' or 'refused/not evaluated'. All clients agreed to participate in this review. The table below illustrates that the greatest cause for concern refers to areas such as, the abdomen and the neck which are noted as particularly dangerous injecting sites. These areas demonstrated severe indentations or bruising, with 40% (n=6) assessed as being 'abnormal' at the time of interview. Skin abrasions were present among over a quarter of clients. In total, 60% (n=9) of the reviews identified prominent scarring and bruising of the injecting site.

	Nor	mal	Abnorma	
	n	%	п	0/0
Head	(15)	100	-	-
Throat	(15)	100	-	-
Ears	(15)	100	-	-
Nose	(U)	93	(1)	7
Eyes	(U)	93	(1)	7
Chest	(U)	93	(1)	7
Neuro	(U)	93	(1)	7
Mouth	(13)	87	(2)	13
Extremities	(13)	87	(2)	13
Lungs	(12)	80	(3)	20
Neck	(12)	80	(3)	20
Genitals*	(12)	80	(2)	13
Skin	(11)	73	(4)	27
Abdomen	(9)	60	(6)	40

TABLE 6.4 REVIEW OF SYSTEMS

• One client refused this examination and so was not evaluated, this accounts for the remaining 7% not illustrated.

Other abnormalities illustrated in the table above, refer to systems such as the lungs, as the majority of these clients were asthmatic and also daily smokers. One client, reported inhaling heroin continuously resulting in poor lung air entry and nasal soreness.

During the medical assessment, both the weight and height of clients were reported. These measurements were then used to calculate the body mass index of clients- $\sqrt[4]{Table 6.5}$ below illustrates the body mass index of participating clients.

Only 13% («=2) were found to be underweight at the time of the interview. However, over half of the clients assessed were reported to be either obese or overweight. This may indicate a tendency towards sugary and fatty food as their primary food intake. As will be illustrated later in this chapter, a large proportion of female clients were found to be anemic at the time of interview. This would suggest that while these clients' body mass index may not be of concern in terms of food deprivation, the nutritional content of their food intake is open to question.

¹¹ Body Mass Index (BMI) is an objective scientific measure that assesses an individual on the basis of his/her height and weight. To determine your BMI, weight in kilograms is divided by height in meters squared. The algebraic expression for BMI is kg /(m)2. Values for BMI are as follows; Normal Range=20-25, Underweight =10-20, Overweight=25-30, Obese=30-40, Very Obese= 40-60.



	Frequency	
Body Mass Index	n	%
Obese (1 pregnant 24 wks)	(3)	20
Overweight (1 pregnant 20 wks)	(6)	40
Underweight	(2)	13
Normal (1 pregnant 12 wks)	(4)	27

TABLE 6.5 BODY MASS INDEX

6.2.4 Gynecological Issues

All participating clients were asked to state whether or not they currently experience any gynecological complaint. Seventy-five percent $(n=\2)$ reported having at least one gynecological complaint. Table 6.6 below illustrates the nature of these gynecological issues.

TABLE 6.6 GYNECOLOGICAL ISSUES

	Y	es
Gynecological Issues	n	%
Secondary Amenorrhea	(5)	42
Spontaneous Abortion	(4)	33
Pregnant	(3)	25
Induced Abortion	(2)	17
Irregular Menstruation	(2)	17
Infertility	(2)	17
Ectopic Pregnancy	(1)	8
Ovarian Cyst	(1)	8

A large proportion of clients (42%; n=5) reported secondary amenorrhea, with one client reporting not having had menstruated for the last seven years. This is well documented in literature on women and drug use, which states that the prolonged use of some drugs can suppress menstrual periods. This may result in pregnancy among some women not being detected until a late stage in their pregnancy.

Over a third of those with gynecological complaints also reported having had a spontaneous abortion. The following client tells how her pregnancy suddenly ended when she was six months pregnant;

/ was six months pregnant and at six months they had to induce me and do a scan, because they couldn 't find a heartbeat. I knew there was something wrong because I was gettin' movements all the time and then all of a sudden they just stopped, the blood stopped going through her body and she stopped growing, so they had to induce me.

(24 year-old client)

Another client reported having had very severe morning sickness during her pregnancy with her second child. She recalls how it resulted in her blood count getting low and how she was then admitted to hospital;

/ had very bad morning sickness all the way through to me fourth or fifth month getting it every day. I was getting sick that bad I couldn't eat anything I was getting very thin. There was very little oxygen in me blood so I was taken into hospital. Me lips were blue and I was dehydrated.

(Regular client)

As already mentioned, of those clients who participated in the medical assessment of the research project, a substantial proportion were pregnant. One client in particular reported how she felt anxious and scared about her



pregnancy due to the fact that it was her first time expecting while on methadone. She acknowledged the support she was currently receiving from the midwife liaison scheme and how she can make contact at any time.¹²

It's my first time to have a baby on methadone, I wasn't on anything before. I'm going into X to see can I cut down, there's a mid-wife that I see every week and I go to her if I want to know anything and if I have any worries about anything I can just ring her she's good, very good.

(28 year old regular female client)

Homelessness can further increase the health risks to which pregnant female clients are exposed. The following quotes convey the difficulties that homelessness can place on the health of both the client and pregnancy outcomes;

I'm not on heroin at the moment because I'm pregnant. I went into X and I was there seven and a half weeks. When I got out of X and because I was homeless I was waiting for accommodation I got pneumonia. I was only out two days when I was in hospital. They couldn't get any of the fluids in I was dehydrated, they couldn't put the drip anywhere in me because I've no veins left from using.

(28 year old regular client)

I've never been pregnant and homeless, I've been looking at a lot of girls, and imagine being pregnant and homeless and on drugs aswell, how would you cope? Like it's bad being homeless but pregnant aswell, trying to look after yourself and and then the pregnancy and maybe at the end of the night having no bed to sleep in. I know a girl who slept on the streets that was pregnant. I actually slept on the street with a girl that was pregnant.

(43 year-old female client)

6.3 Investigative Screening Tests

As already stated a range of investigative screening tests were offered to clients in addition to the medical assessment. These tests included the following;

- Full Blood Count
- Liver Function
- Renal Function
- Random Cholesterol and Blood Glucose
- *HepA*, *B* & *QHIV*,
- STI Testing (Syphillis and Chlamydia)
- Vaginal Swab and Cervical Smear

In total, 87% (n=13) of clients agreed to undergo at least one laboratory test. As already mentioned in the previous chapter, some female clients reported having recently undergone specific tests such as Hep B/C and HIV at their methadone clinic or as routine tests undertaken upon disclosure of their pregnancy. *Table 6.7* below conveys the scale of these tests.

A large proportion of female clients expressed an interest in having a range of tests. Clients were extremely concerned about being tested for specific sexually transmitted infections and vaginal or cervical smears. As will be discussed later on in this chapter, difficulties were encountered in obtaining a sufficient amount of blood for the samples from seven clients, due to the poor quality of their veins.

¹² Eastern regional health authority liaison midwives work specifically with pregnant drug using women who are attending maternity hospitals in Dublin. The liaison midwife acts as a link between the obstetric and the drug treatment services to ensure that drug-using women receive a comprehensive service and to ensure good communication exists between these two teams.



	Ye	es
Laboratory Tests	n	%
Vaginal Swab	(11)	73
Blood Count	(10)	67
STD's	(10)	67
HIV	(9)	60
Hepatitis C	(9)	60
Urine Tests	(8)	53
Hepatitis B	(8)	53
Cervical Smear	(7)	47
Other*	(2)	U

TABLE 6.7 LABORATORY TESTS UNDERTAKEN

* Glucose test

Overall, 67% («=10) of clients agreed to have a full blood count undertaken. Of these, 70% (w=7) were found to be anemic at the time of interview, as *Figure 6.1* below illustrates.



FIGURE 6.1 ANEMIA AMONG FEMALE CLIENTS

One client in particular reported having experienced anemia on numerous occasions which had often resulted in her having to undergo various blood transfusions in the past;

I got a blood transfusion lately, I'm anemic and I have to have blood transfusions, [...] I've got about eight blood transfusions in the past me blood keeps going back down and I need another one again. They don't know where me bloods are going, they did loads of different tests. I know its gone down again because every few minutes I end up stopping cause I get dizzy and then I get sweaty.

(43 year-old client)

The majority of clients reported consuming a great deal of convenience food. Diets usually comprised of large amounts of sugar, fat, salt and caffeine with very few clients reporting a balanced and nutritional intake. As the majority of clients were currently "out of home" this was further aggravated by the lack of facilities in which to prepare and store food. Clients reported heroin as suppressing their appetite, and did not therefore require food at times.

Years ago I used to eat a normal dinner but now I get this bland taste in me mouth, I now eat sugary stuff cause I know I get a taste out of sugary stuff, like chocolate and cakes instead ofeatin' a proper dinner.

(Client; 31 years)

Most of me teeth are in bits because of the gear [...] eatin' all the sweets and chocolate and minerals, all the fizzy stuff, when you 're on gear you don't eat properly.



(28 year-old regular client)

Table 6.8 below demonstrates the positive results of tests which were undertaken over the eight weeks. These results confirmed and in cases provided an opportunity to dismiss clients' self-reported information. It is clear from the table below that the substantial majority of female clients had positive hepatitis C antibodies present.

	Frequ	lency
Test	n	%
Hepatitis C (Antibodies Present)	(13)	87
Hepatitis B (Antibodies Present)	(2)	13
Abnormal Liver Tests	(3)	20
Abnormal MSU	(1)	7

TABLE 6.8 POSITIVE TEST RESULTS

However, hepatitis C antibodies can indicate either present or past infection. The above clients may have the antibodies for Hepatitis C, but what is of most concern is the extent to which the liver is affected. In this regard, the tests convey that only 3 female clients reported an abnormality in their liver function. One of these clients is currently receiving treatment for chronic hepatitis. The following quote illustrates the pain which she experiences;

/ have chronic hepatitis. I feel grand now, though I was very sick now I'm better. I'm not as tired as I used to be. I used to be sleeping all the time I used to be very yellow and have pains across here [her chest] ye know right across. Like I attended the hematology unit every month. Since I came pregnant there's not much they can do unless take me liver function.

(Regular Client)

6.4 Evaluating the Intervention

In this section, data is presented from the interviews conducted with the staff which were involved in the Women's Health Project, namely the doctor, nurse and the female drugs worker. The interview focused on the implementation of the Women's Health Project over the eight-week period and provided an opportunity to highlight any positive or negative elements of the Project.

6.4.1 Service Environment

From the onset, the importance of establishing the Women's Health Project within an existing familiar and convenient location for the female clients was considered to be of utmost importance. It was felt that both access to, and participation in the Project would be greatly enhanced if it was located within a low threshold service within Merchants Quay Ireland. Incorporating the Project within the regular services provided by the Contact Centre proved beneficial both in terms of the management and delivery of the interventions undertaken as the following quotes convey;

/ think it was much better having it there on the spot where they knew us. If they didn 't know me they knew X or they could chat to other female workers.

(Female Nurse; Drugs Worker)

/ think it was a very good idea not to have it as a separate service, when the place was closed. I think it was very important that it occurred when other services were going on [...] However while the clients were very much open to what was happening they did like the privacy of it. That is why I feel they liked to have the other services going on at the same time, moving continuously like they do usually and that they could then avail of the doctor if they wanted to.

61

(Female Drugs Worker)

People living on the margin are not good at keeping appointments. You can tell them to return tomorrow or the day after and they may or may not. What is important for them today may not be important for them tomorrow morning. In this way the Women's Health Project was good.

(Female Nurse; Drugs Worker)

The suitability of the location of the Project was also reflected in the extent to which clients were at ease when they presented for their medical interventions. Clients were aware of the limitations of the Women's Health Project in terms of it being primarily an eight week pilot study.

They came in very calm and weren 't distracted at all by what was happening outside. That is what amazed me. The first morning we had X [a client] who had to rush out, but after that they were ready to spend time inside and they were in no hurry. X had to rush out and make a phonecall and I thought this would be a very regular thing but it wasn 't at all. But there was no rush on them [...] they were very open and very relaxed with the doctor.

(Female Nurse/Drugs Worker)

I felt that the women themselves were very helpful and by the time they had reached us I felt that they were very well prepared even before they reached the doctor at all. They were very clear in their minds about what they were about to experience in the clinic and they were most co-operative.

(Female Nurse/Drugs Worker)

The first intervention with the doctor obviously is for the women quite a nervous and anxious, experience. Reassuring them is invaluable, reassuring them that it is as narrow or as broad as they want, that they can ask the doctor anything, have any tests or examination done, or they can have nothing done [...] That first intervention is brilliant because it is so easy to avail of. They feel they can come back and have a quick consultation with the doctor and check out something they weren't quite sure about. It's so acceptable because they are here nine times out often anyway.

(Female Drugs Worker)

6.4.2 Service Delivery

In view of the highly medical nature of this research study, strict planning and preparation of activities were necessary to ensure its smooth operation. Contact with a range of medical service providers within the locality, provided information on issues such as, equipment and relevant protocols including the transport of specimens. This greatly influenced the effectiveness of the Project;

We contacted X [a medical service provider] and got all our instruments and all our materials. Through our organisation in the early stages it went very very well.

(Female Nurse/Drugs Worker)

Any difficulties experienced mainly occurred within the early stages of the Project. Following the initial morning of the Project, medical interventions continued favourably;

I found the first day the most difficult of all. After that I felt that the doctor and myself settled down very much into it and got on well with the clients.

(Nurse/Drugs Worker)

The greatest difficulty was in obtaining adequate supplies of blood for laboratory tests due to the poor quality of the clients' veins. As the doctor explained;

It was very difficult getting the blood. From the first two we made a lot of mistakes because we didn 't have the right amount of blood. I hadn 't anticipated this difficulty. I think the



 •umSv sdAjdSUiduj dsodxd oj JUVM \ upip <iduj -uwSv uidiji jv sn JUVM j, upip iidip puv wdiji oi snopdud dJdM SUWA jpu? dsnvddq umSv ijdvq diuod 01 JUVA \ upip •uuSv yovq sjudpo diji Suuq o; pvu dAi uduj puv 'poo\q judpiffnsui SVM dJduj Suitivs ijovq duivd sjjnsdj dijijo duios dsjnoo/Q Jfo juds dJdM sudiupdds dip Jo duios puv sdjjjoq dij) o;ui poojq ijSnoud Supjnd \ udUdM d^ -fjdsjdij]i joş dus puv ji JdS oj dddijM Mduy dus pivs dug -d]js Supddfw uv sv vdjv slip Suisn fcpvdijv SVM dijs puv uopvfudpm Siq v punqfj puv mouS dip wojffi pS o) SUIAZI; SVM j -pip duo sv sdAjdsuidip]i SuppS iv Jdjpq uddq BAVIJ juSiw s;udpo

(JOJOOQ)

p9A[0AUI JJBJS 9qi JOJ S9uiij JB Suq?uBtU9p gq o; pajjodgj SBAV 9JJU93 PBJUO3 9qj jo suoijBjgdo AjiBp aqj ojm 99IAJ9S gq; Sumerodropuj

pdAjOAW AZidA SVM ijdįuM. ddvjd Suiyjvi osjv SVAA doiAJds vujxd uv djiuM. dOiAids duivs difj •idffo puv sdjoj jvnsn mo ui yjoM oj pvų jjps iijsnoiAqo dM 'dijud-j pvjuo-j dijj ui sjdyjoM sy

(Female Drugs Worker)

\jsquisui JJEJS SuiA\o|pj aqi Xq uasouoo JOJ snssi vx su pspj^Ssj SBAV ştqx 'SJJUS^ p^;uo3 aq; oj səəpuətte 3|Bui3j iBjnSsi \\v SUOUIB spssu 9JB0 qj|B9q js9^9J§ gql iqp societ thosesut the societ the spsterit as figure of the provided as the spsterit of the societ the soc

'AdjvddS uddq dAvu pjnoAi spddu jpuj puv sjojddfm dAipv dq pjnoiw tidijj ~dsn Srup Jidij) ui DIIOVIJD djoui jvfdq pjnoAi dduj 'ivtjj duop dAvu pjnoM dM. MOU MOUIJ 4 uop j jnq pdpnjdui dAVij 01 pdAoj dAVij pjnoM j iviji s;udijo duios djv dJdijj [•"] uduuvd v dAvu puv diuşuopvjdj v ui dJV A"dui fi A'jjvpddsd 'pdjjoddns JJ2M djinb dq oj uidds rfaijj 'djqvjs lijdAijvjdi div uojoop duj udds dAVij OIJM sjudijo dijj/o JOJ y

(Female Drugs Worker)

Sucitions of Interventions

A fneilD

'pavo jvDipdw v SupiVMV iipudsdid si puv A"i]vooi A3U UI JOpop V 1(J1M p9Jd)Sl8dJ SI 3U£ 'UdjpiJUQ OM1 J3U UIIA4. UQIJVpOWUlOOOV JdU SdJVUS BUS UlOI[A\ ifjiM Adsn Srup Suipdfui uv osjv si OUAI jaujjvd uvjnSdj v svu aug, -siqvuuvo sdyows /(JJVUOISVOOO dvjs uopippv uj •sAVdA' xis jsvj 9uj uof Suipdfui uddq svu puv mou9ij Smpdfui kjiudimo si 9ug 'rijij Jduuj ujnog uijqnQ ui jvjf tfyuojijnv JVOOJ v ui sdAij OUM judijo ivjnSdA pjo-jvdrf fig v si pJouuDd

•ssdosąv BJdAds v JO/BOUO puv diuij JVUJ iv afvfs dAissdiddp JBU O; dnp 9JIA/J 'sdwij ddji/j ;u9ui;jvdd(j g %>y difi pspuduv aµs sµiuoui dddµ} fsvj dµi uµ]} •sivdA' ddAµ; jsv] dif) JO/2µii[v; uddq svµ dµs µDIUM duvwjVQ puv ump^ osjv puv $_{ii}$ uoissdjddp dµ} wojfwjvD ddu sdsdy^ 'vpuivj 01 Suipjooov 'UOIUM vxodg psquosaud uo fyudsddd si dµg 'jduidjjv dppms v jq/'jaijavd sjvaA' OAAJ pdsijvjidsou udaq SMAVU 'uoissdjddp djaAds/o AJOISIU v svµ dµg 'dAyisod j puv g 'y sijijvddu si BUS JVUJ sjjodaj osjv puv Asdsjidd uiodf sidffns vpwvj

•djdwvs judppjnsui oj dnp sjsdj oifpdds jvaddA oj sdwp ;v Auvssdddu osjv SVM ij -sisdj Aliojvjoqvj diji JO/ Ajvssdddu poojq dijj Sumwjqo ui A^jnoiffip SUIAVIJ pdjuoddj utvdj jvoipdiu dip 'uopippv uj udiuopqv puv yjdu Jdų A"jjvjnopjvd 'sdjis Supodfm SUOUVA ui suopviudpui puv Sumruq didAdS pvu dijs 'uopvuiuivxd UQ -judwssdssv jvoipdw uSnojoiji v o; uopippv m (sppvddjj puv jjg 'duu/j 'poojg) Udyvuapun sisdi Jo dSuvj v dAvu 01 jijgnos vjdiuvj 'pdfoaj ijjjvdjj suduioj^ dip oj uopvjudsdud UQ



In total, she presented for four follow-up visits. Her test results were disclosed, and she was treated for a large inflamed abscess. She was given other health related advice and information. Her test results indicated that she was in fact only hepatitis C positive and that both hepatitis A and B were negative. Syphilis was also negative and her cervical smear was normal. A referral was made to Trinity Court for a rapid assessment for a methadone programme.

Client B

Sue is 23 years of age. She is currently 'out of home' and is temporarily staying with friends. She is currently injecting heroin and has been injecting for the last year. Over the last four weeks she has also injected Benzos and is also ingesting street Valium and Dalmane.

At 16 years, Sue had an induced abortion in England. She reported that it had been found at a very early stage that her cervical smear was abnormal. Other gynecological complaints included secondary amenorrhoea for the last 3 years.

Upon examination the doctor found her to be very tender and to have a bloody cervical discharge, indicating that it was perhaps an ectopic pregnancy. She was then referred immediately for a scan and the results conveyed that it appeared to be an ovarian cyst (a dermoid cyst). Following a meeting with the gynecological consultant in the hospital, Sue received a surgery date.

Results of laboratory tests undertaken during the Women's Health Project also revealed that her cervical smear was normal with no signs of pre-cancerous cells despite what she had reported verbally. Syphilis was negative and also Hepatitis B, C and HIV.

6.4.3 Women's Health Project- Raising Awareness

The Women's Health Project was primarily an investigative research study, however the participating clients presented real and pressing health concerns. For some clients the disclosure of test results did not greatly concern them, as they were already aware of specific results which merely verified previous findings. Overall the majority of clients were in receipt of positive results with only a small proportion highlighting issues for concern;

The majority of reports were very good. Those who were informed of their hepatitis C, these women had already tested for hepatitis C and they knew that they had it or they didn 't have it and they accepted it. When they found that their vaginal smears were clear also, it was such a great relief to them.

(Nurse)

They may have hepatitis but if their liver is okay, then it is good. You can have antibodies and that just means you have an infection but if it's not actually affecting your liver then that is very good news. A lot of them have positive antibodies for hepatitis C but how many actually have the virus. Two of them that are positive maybe three. When I reviewed their liver function tests were abnormal.

(Doctor)

The Women's Health Project also highlighted that the majority of women involved in the research study were aware of, and placed immense importance on their health. It illustrates that these women are highly concerned about maintaining their health and well being, over and beyond seeking medical treatment for an immediate health care complaint, despite what is often reflected in both the type and frequency of medical contact pursued.

These women are taking care of themselves. They are very much aware of their health and what could happen. They worry about their health [...]. How they have looked after themselves that 's what I would say to you, it is a credit to them. They are responsible people.





/ think they are very concerned about their health but I think they are looking for a quick solution. They need to change their behaviour; it's behavioural change within their lifestyle that's the big thing.

(Doctor)

However, frustration was also expressed by the limitations at the restrictions placed on the number of clients that could be facilitated on any one morning.

/ suppose I would have liked to see more women naturally but then we couldn 'tfind the women in the morning. If we could have seen women in the afternoon maybe 2-4 aswell I don't know [...]. It opened my eyes to realise so few women come in the morning. Maybe they come in at half eleven or twelve o clock because of children or one thing or another. I'll now be observing in the afternoon how many women actually come in the afternoon.

(Female Nurse)

A morning is an extremely short time and that it is fine on the first day when you could probably see three clients. But we found that this wasn't a reality. Two new clients with the intervention that the doctor was giving was more than enough. Then as we saw more clients and as clients were also coming back to get test results it definitely proved to be enough.

(Female Drugs Worker)

A small proportion of clients also required on-going treatment. The fact that there was no guarantee that they would receive follow-up care was frustrating for the staff;

It's a little bit frustrating in a way for me personally because you don't know what is going to happen to them in the future. You 've done all these tests. You know that there is one or two of them that need very urgent follow-up and you don't know if they will receive it. I do feel that the thing is a little bit fragmented, for me as a doctor anyway. I have experience where you have being working and following up with whatever intervention has being made and it has being sustained and passed over to others. With these girls it's a bit messy and it's because of their lifestyle.

(Doctor)

The experience of the Women's Health Project, shows that the establishment of a similar project on a longer term basis would be necessary if this group were to have access to health care appropriate to their needs and circumstances. Follow-up care of these individuals would provide them access to a range of other services which are available.

/ think if you are going to set up a primary health care service here, this is going to solve a lot of those problems. It would be in one place and they would feel that there is somebody that is concerned and they are going to be followed up [...] I think it is necessary because of their lifestyle. Like X [a client] who went to the hospital. If she had been told to go herself she wouldn't have gone, or if she had gone she mightn't have stayed. It was the fact that somebody went and accompanied her. That's where they are at.

(Doctor of the Womens Health Project)

The teamwork element was very good. I think a few of them [female clients] were even referred onto acupuncture here and some alternative medicine also. The learning for me has been that a system like this can work if you have people working together as a team exploring other avenues like complementary medicines, which you are already doing.



(Doctor of the Womens Health Project)

6.5 Summary and Conclusions

This chapter has outlined the nature of the medical interventions undertaken as part of the Women's Health Project. These interventions primarily aimed at achieving a medical assessment of clients in addition to various investigative screening tests. The information collected from these two sources complemented the self-reported data documented in Chapter Five of the Report. Fifteen clients agreed to participate in this element of the study. A total of 33 interventions were made which included 18 follow-up interventions on 11 clients within the eight-week period. Numerous other clients expressed an interest in participating but it was not possible to accommodate all requests.

The majority of test results were favourable. Those to whom negative results were disclosed had prior knowledge of their results in the majority of cases. Nonetheless, 87% (n=13) of client cases were revealed to have hepatitis C positive antibodies and a further 13% (n=2) had hepatitis B positive antibodies. However, on receipt of the liver function tests only 23% (n=3) of those with hepatitis C antibodies were found to have liver abnormalities. It is also worth noting that over half of the clients interviewed reported having being tested within the last year. It may be the case that the potential severity of hepatitis C has not yet surfaced.

The numbers of clients seeking gynecological advice and more specifically pre-natal information as a feature of their intervention were high. As already stated, 24% (w=4) of those who agreed to participate in the study were pregnant at the time of interview. This supports international research which suggests that pregnancy can provide the opportunity to encourage drug-using women to enter treatment and to change their behaviour. Furthermore, the provision of obstetric services may be the route to treat other problems related to drug use (Hepburn, 1996; MacGregor, 2001).



Conclusions and Recommendations

The invisibility of women within many drug services remains a highly debated issue for concern. Women drug users represent a mobile and often 'hard to reach' group. Evidence suggests that they are often deterred from seeking treatment due to a range of factors, including economic resources and childcare concerns (Hodgins *et al*, 1997; Swift *et al*, 1996; NIDA, 1998). Moreover, treatment is often provided within a male orientated environment with the needs and circumstances of female drug users remaining largely unacknowledged (Reed, 1987; Ettorre, 1992).

This study has focused on an investigation into the health status of female drug users in order to ascertain the degree to which their medical needs are met. A Women's Health Project was opened for one morning a week over an eight-week period. During this time, detailed medical assessments, in addition to a range of clinical screening tests were undertaken among a cohort of regular attendees at the Contact Centre within Merchants Quay Ireland. A total of 33 interventions were made which included follow-up or repeat visits by clients. This clinical information was complemented by clients' self-reported data on their health status and levels of contact with medical services.

There is a belief that drug users are not interested in health care and that the need for health care arises purely from behaviour which is often seen as self-inflicted (Brettle *et al*, 1990). However, this study has highlighted that female drug users, in particular, are highly aware of and concerned about their overall health and wellbeing beyond immediate health care complaints. This study has also demonstrated that a complex relationship exists between their need, their demand for and use of health services. Numerous factors, such as the perceived insensitivity of medical service providers to their circumstances and negative attitudes among health care professionals can limit female drug users access to, and participation in a range of medical services. This can often result in their increased use of emergency services instead of seeking assistance within the primary care setting.

This project has provided a "snap shot" of the current health status among a cohort of female drug users. Although the majority of assessments were positive, it must be noted that the potential risk of deterioration is ever present. By minimising existing harmful behaviour and providing the female drug user with appropriate follow-on support and access to medical services, it may be possible to maintain stability. Nevertheless, female drug users, regardless of their current health status, represent a case for special consideration.



Recommendations

Based on the findings and learning of the Women's Health Project, the following recommendations are made;

The general drug-using population is not a homogenous group. Individuals engage in different patterns of drug use and behaviour. Women have been highlighted as a group whose drug-using practices include extreme use of psychotropic drugs in addition to the regular use of other illicit substances. In this regard, female drug users represent a case for special consideration and the following recommendations are therefore presented;

- Gender differences in approaches to medical diagnosis, intervention and prevention must be examined and employed;
- Consulting women with regard to their health needs will help develop services, which are appropriate to their needs and circumstances;
- In promoting positive health care practices the aim should be to maximise the health of the individual by creating a model to which the drug user can relate. Health services, therefore, must be flexible and resourceful in adapting to the differing needs of this client group.

A fragmented service delivery limits the possibility of providing a continuum of health services to meet the complex needs of female drug users and those of the general drug-using population. We should therefore;

- Work on the basis of a comprehensive assessment of the women's situation and apply case-specific care and treatment planning techniques;
- Have a linked service model of care whereby individual case files can be accessed by health professionals. This would ensure both continuity and follow-on care;
- Adopt a broader focus to health to include access to primary health care, reproductive health services, pre-natal care and behavioural health services.

Lack of primary health prevention strategies and deferred use of secondary care, means that treatable infections and complaints are left unchecked, potentially leading to serious or fatal consequences. To minimise such harm, the following health promotion strategies are recommended;

- Routine regular contact with drug users to include running through a health checklist to increase early detection of medical complaints;
- Provide a wide range of health services in a local setting which are user-sensitive, culturally specific and readily available;
- Regular liaison and co-operation between drug, health and other social services to provide coordinated care and follow-up support for drug-using clients;
- Develop a comprehensive hepatitis C strategy which focuses on raising awareness, preventative care and treatment options;
- Provision of on-site counselling to deal specifically with psychiatric complaints among this client group.

Access to primary health care is often influenced by a range of social and economic factors. Access to and participation in healthcare services could be improved by;

- Ensuring that all drug services have a Welfare Rights person to inform clients of their health entitlements and provide assistance in dealing with these issues;
- Ensure that the process involved in the application of medical cards under the General Medical Scheme is made more user-friendly. In this regard, consideration should be given to reduce the tedious and time-consuming element of both applying for, and processing the card. Extending the expiry period of medical cards is also recommended;
- Providing drugs awareness training, education and information to health care professionals who work with women who use drugs and drug users in general;
- Drug services should develop and employ specific outreach efforts to draw women into treatment or that direct them towards services that can cater for their overall health care needs.



The provision of appropriate and adequate health care for female drug users should be firmly placed on the political agenda to ensure that health strategies do not further marginalise those in greatest need of care. Therefore, the following are recommended;

• Ensure that research findings and policy decisions are turned into effective women's health programmes;

*_

• Develop and implement effective women s'health polices and programmes at a local and national levels.

69

Bibliography and Further Reading

Abed, R. and Neira-Munoz, E. (1990) "A Survey of General Practitioners Opinion and Attitude to Dru Addicts and Addiction". *British Journal of Addiction*. 85:131-136.

Advisory Council on the Misuse of Drugs (1989) Aids and Drug Misuse: Part 2. HMSO: London.

Albrecht, G. (1994) "Subjective Health Assessment" in C. Jenkinson (Ed.) Measuring Health and Medica Outcomes. UCL Press: London.

Anglin M, Hser Y, and M. Booth (1987) "Sex Differences in Addict Careers. 4. Treatment". *American Journa Drug Alcohol Abuse*. 13:253-280.

Anthony J, Vlahov C, Celentano D, Menon A, Margolick J. Cohn S. *et al.* (1991) "Self Report Interview Dat; For a Study of HIV-1 Infection Among Intravenous Drug Users: Description of Methods and Preliminary Evidence on Validity". *Journal of Drug Issues* 21: 739-757.

Aviles, N., Barnard, M., Rhodes, T., Hariga, R, Weber, U., Copple, A., and J. Fountain (2000) "Qualitative Research on the Health Risks associated with Drug Injecting: Needle and Syringe Sharing" in *Understanding and Responding to Drug Use: The Role of Qualitative Research*. Scientific Monograph Series No 4 EMCDDA: Lisbon.

Barnard, M. (1993) "Needle Sharing in Context: Patterns of Sharing among Men and Women Injectors and HIV Risk Behaviour". *Addiction* 88:805-812.

Berridge V (1990) Drugs Research and Policy in Britain. Avebury: Aldershot.

Blank, M., and W. Neeles (1993) "Educating and Training G.P's in the Management and Treatment of Drug Users". *International Journal of Drug Policy*. 4:49-55.

Blume, S et al (1994) "Trends in Survival among Persons with Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome in New York City". American Journal of Epidemiology 139 (4) 351-361.

Blumenthal, S.J (1998) "Women and Substance Abuse: A New National Focus" in Wetherington, C.L and Roman, A.B (eds) *Drug Addiction Research and the Health of Women*. NIDA: Rockville 13-33.

Bosio, P. *et al* (1997) "The Prevalence of Chemical Substance and Alcohol Abuse in Obstetric Population in Dublin". *Irish Medical Journal*. 90:4: 149-150.

Boyd, C. and D. Mast (1983) "Addicted Women and Their Relationships with Men". *Journal of Psychosocial Nursing* 21(2): 10-13.

Bradbeer, C (1987) "Is Infection with HIV a Risk Factor for Cervical Intra-Epithelial Neoplasia? in *Lancet* 2:400-401.

Bradbeer, C (1989) "Women and HIV". British Medical Journal 298:342-343.



•adbumN, Rips L, and Shevell, S. (1987) "Answering Autobiographical Questions: The Impact of Memory d Inference on Surveys". *Science*. 236:157-161.

-adley, F. et al (1993) "Attitudes of Irish G.P's to HIV Infection". JICGP 10(2): 64-68.

radley, F. et al (1994) "Attitudes Towards the Experience of General Practice Among HIV positive patients the Republic of Ireland". *International Journal of STD*^S and Aids 5(5):327-331.

radley, F. et al (1995) "Analysis of Care of HIV Positive Patients: Hospital and General Practice omponents". *Irish Medical Journal* 88(3):98-100.

razier, J.E et al (1992) "Validating the SF-36 Health Survey Questionnaire: New Outcome Measure for imary Care". *British Medical Journal* 305: 160-4.

rettle, R., Farrell, M., and J. Strang (1990) "Clinical Features of HIV Infection and Aids in Drug Takers" in ;ang, J and G. Stimson (eds) *Aids and Drug Misuse*. Routledge: London.

urt, J. and G. Stimson (1993) Drug Injectors and HIV Risk Reduction; Strategies for Protection. Health ducation Authority: London.

ury, G., CTKelly, F., and Pomeroy, L. (1993) "The Use of Primary Care Services by Drug Users Attending a IV Prevention Unit". *Irish Medical Journal* 86:(2) 53-55.

utler, S. (1991) "Drug Problems and Drug Policy in Ireland; A Quarter of a Century Reviewed". *dministration* 39: 210-233.

utler, S., and M. Woods (1992) "Drugs, HIV and Ireland: Responses to Women in Dublin" in Dorn, N., Henderson, N., and N. South (eds) *Aids: Women, Drugs and Social Care.* The Falmer Press: London.

yme, A and R. Lentin (2000) *Researching Women- Feminist Research Methodologies in the Social Sciences i Ireland*. Institute of Public Administration.

assin, S., Geoghegan, T. and G. Cox (1998) Young Injectors: A Comparative Analysis of Risk Behaviour". *ish Journal of Medical Science*. 167: 4: 234-237.

!leary, A and M. Tracey (1997) *The Sociology of Health and Illness in Ireland*. University of College Dublin ress: Dublin.

lomiskey, C. (1998) Estimating the Prevalence of Opiate Use In Dublin, Ireland During 1996. Institute of technology, Tallaght.

looperstock R. (1971) "Sex Differences in the Use of Mood-altering Drugs: An Explanatory Model". *Journal f Health Social Behaviour* 12:238-244.

'opeland, J. and W. Hall (1992) "A Comparison of Women seeking Drug and Alcohol Treatment in a pecialist Women's and Two Traditional Mixed-Set Treatment" in *British Journal of Addiction*. 87: 883-890.

"opeland, J (1997) "A Qualitative Study of Barriers to Formal Treatment Among Women Who Self-Managed "hange in Addictive Behaviours". *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*. 14:183-190.

"ornwell, J. (1984) Hard Earned Lives: Accounts of Health and Illness From East London. Tavistock: xmdon.

"orrigan, E., Butler, S., and M. Camosso (1995) "Outcome of Treatment for Irish Women". *Irish Journal of Psychological Medicine* 12:48-52.

"ox, G., O'Shea M. and T. Geoghegan (1999) "Gender Differences in Characteristics of Drug Users 'resenting to a Dublin Syringe Exchange". *The Irish Journal of Psychological Medicine* 16(4): 131-135.

Jox, G and M. Lawless (2000) Making Contact: An Evaluation of a Syringe Exchange Programme. 4erchant's Quay Project: Dublin.

Mullen, M and Morrissey, T (1984) Women and Health: Some Current Issues. Health Education Bureau:)ublin.

Mien, W., Bury, G., Barry, J., and F.O' Kelly (2000) "Drug Users Attending General Practice in Eastern Regional Health Authority (ERHA) Area". *Irish Medical Journal* 93:7.



Daly, M (2000) "Feminist Research Methodology: The Case of Ireland" in Byrne, A and R. Lentin (eds *Researching Women- Feminist Research Methodologies in the Social Sciences in Ireland*. Institute of Public Administration: Dublin.

DAWN (1991) Women, Drugs and Alcohol: A National Survey of Service Provision. HMSO: London.

DAWN (1994) "When a Creche is Not Enough". Survey of Facilities for Women Using Drugs (including alcohol). GLASS: London.

Darke, S., Ward, J., Hall, W., Heather, N., and A. Wodak (1991) *The Opiate Treatment Index Manual Technical Report Number II*. National Drug and Research Centre: Sydney.

Darke, S (1998) "Self Report Among injecting Drug Users: A Review". *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*. Vo 51:253-263.

Daly, M. (1989) (ed) Women Together Against Poverty. Attic Press: Dublin.

Delor, F (1997) Seropositive: Identify Trajectories and Encounters with Risk (Translation). L'Harmattan Paris.

Department of Health (1994) Shaping a Healthier Future- A Strategy for Effective Healthcare in the 1990*s Stationery Office: Dublin.

Department of Health (1995) Developing a Policy for Women's Health-A Discussion Document. Stationer Office: Dublin.

Department of Health (1997) A Plan for Women's Health 1997-1999. Stationery Office: Dublin.

Des Jarlais, D. and S. Friedman (1997) "HIV Infection in Intravenous Drug Users: Epidemiology and Risl Reduction". *AIDS* 1: 67-76.

Desmond, N., Murphy, M., Plunkett, P., and F. Mulcahy (1993) "Use of a Dublin Inner City A&E Departmen by Patients with Known HIV-1 Infection". *International Journal of STD's and AIDS*. 4(4):222-225.

Donoghoe, M. (1992) "Sex, HIV and Injecting Drug Users". British Journal of Addiction 87:405-416.

Donoghoe, M., Dolan, K. and G. Stimson (1992) "Life-Style Factors and Social Circumstances of Syringi Sharing in Injecting Drug Users". *British Journal of Addiction* 87:993-1003.

Dorn, N and N. South (1990) "Communications, Education, Drugs and HIV" in Strang, J and G.V Stimsoi (eds) *Aids and Drug Misuse*. Routledge: London.

Dorus, W. and E. Senay (1980) "Depression, Demographic Dimensions and Drug Abuse". American Journa of Psychiatry. 137:6:699-704.

Drake, S. and D. Zandor (1996) "Fatal Heroin 'Overdose': A Review". Addiction 91:12:1765-1772.

Drug Misuse Database (1997) Manchester Syringe Exchange Schemes: Annual Report April 1996 to Mara 1997. University of Manchester: Manchester.

Drugs Indicators Project (1989) Report on Help-Seeking and Service Utilisation. Institute for the Study o Drug Dependence: London.

Duffy, C. (1994) "Female Poverty, Powerlessness and Social Exclusion in Ireland". *Administration* 42:1:47 66.

Durante, A., Selwyn, P., and G. O' Connor (1998) "Risk Factors of Mycobacterium Tuberculosis Infectioi among Drug Users in Substance Abuse Treatment". *Addiction* 93(9): 1393-1401.

Dwyer, R. *et al* (1994) 'A Comparison of HIV Risk between Women and Men who Inject Drugs' *Aid*, *Education and Prevention* 6 (5) 379-389.

Elion, R. (1990) "Primary Care: The Challenge of HIV Infection to the Care of the Drug Taker" in Strang, and G. Stimson (eds) *Aids and Drug Misuse*. Routledge: London.

EMCDDA (1997) Annual Report on the State of the Drugs Problem in the European Union. European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction: Lisbon.



EMCDDA (1999) Annual Report on the State of the Drugs Problem in the European Union. European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction: Lisbon.

EMCDDA (2000) Annual Report on the State of the Drug Problem in the European Union. European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction: Lisbon.

Ettorre E. (1992) Women and Substance Use. London: Macmillan.

*

Evason, E (1993) *The Cost of Caring: First Interim Report Of a Longitudinal Study into the Circumstances of Carers in Northern Ireland.* Compiled for the Equal Opportunities Commission for Northern Ireland by the Centre for Health and Social Research: University of Ulster.

Faugier, J. et al (1992) Drug Using Prostitutes: Their Health Care Needs and their Clients. University of Manchester: Manchester.

Feeney, A., McGee, H., Holohan, T and W. Shannon (2000). *Health of Hostel- Dwelling Men in Dublin: Perceived Health Status, Lifestyle and Health Care Utilisation of Homeless Men in South Inner City Dublin Hostels.* Department of General Practice & Health Services Research Centre: Department of Psychology, Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland and Department of Public Health, Eastern Health Board.

Finnegan, L.P (1991) "Treatment Issues for Opioid Dependent Women During the Perinatal Period". *Journal of Psycho active Drugs*. 23:191-201.

Fitzpatrick, R. *et al* (1992) "Quality of Life Measures in Health Care: Applications and Issues in Assessment". *British Medical Journal.* 305: 1074-1077.

Flemen, K. (1997) *Smoke and Whispers: Drugs and Youth Homelessness in Central London*. The Hungerford Drug Project: Turning Point: London.

Friel, S., Nic Gabhainn, S., and C. Kelleher (1999) *The National Health and Lifestyle Surveys*. Health Promotion Unit: Dublin/Centre for Health Promotion Studies:University of Ireland, Galway.

General Household Survey (1990) OPCS: London.

Ghodse A. *et al.* (1977) "The Effect of Maternal Narcotic Addiction on the New Born Infant". *Psychol. Med.* 7:667-675.

Giles, W et al (1989) "Outpatient Methadone Programme For Pregnant Heroin Using Women". Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. 29:225-229.

Glanz, A. (1986) "Findings of a National Survey of the Role of General Practitioners in the Treatment of Opiate Misuse: Views on Treatment". *British Medical Journal*. 293:260-263.

Gossop, M. et al (1990) "Factors Predicting Outcome Among Addicts After Treatment". British Journal of Clinical Psychology. 29:209-216.

Gossop, M.,Griffiths, P., Powis, B., and Strang, J., (1993a) "Severity of Heroin Dependence and HIV Risk I - Sexual Behaviour". *AIDS CARE* 5:149-157.

Gossop, M., Griffiths, P., Powis, B., and J.Strang (1993b) "Severity of Heroin Dependence and HIV Risk II - Sharing Injecting Equipment". *AIDS CARE* 5:159-168.

Gossop M, Griffiths P, and Strang J. (1994) "Sex Differences in Patterns of Drug Taking Behaviour". *British Journal of Psychiatry*. 164:101-104.

Gossop, M *et al* (1995) "Female Prostitutes in South London- Use of Heroin, Cocaine and Alcohol and their Relationship to Health Risk Behaviour" *AIDS CARE* 7(3):253-260.

Gossop, M et al (1996) "Frequency of Non-Fatal Heroin Overdose: Survey of Heroin Users Recruited in Non-Clinical Settings". British Medical Journal. 313:402

Greenwood, J. (1992) "Unpopular Patients: G.P's Attitudes to Drug Users". Druglink 7:8-10.

Gutierres, S.E., Molof, M and S. Ungerleider (1994) "Relationship of Risk Factors to teen Substance Use: A Comparison of Abstainers, Infrequent Users and Frequent Users". *The International Journal of Addictions*. Vol29(12):1559-1579.



Hall, W. and Farrell, M. (1988) "Comorbidity and Mental Disorders with Substance Misuse". *British Journal of Psychiatry*. 45:1023-1031.

Harrell, A. (1985) "Validation of Self-Report: The Research Record". In: Rouse B, Kozel N, and Richards L. Eds. *Self-Report Methods of Estimating Drug Use: Meeting Current Challenges to Validity*. Rockville, NIDA 1985:12-21.

Hartnoll R, Mitcheson M, Lewis R, and Bryer S. (1985) "Estimates of the Prevalence of Opioid Dependence". *Lancet* 203-205.

Hellinger, F.J. (1993) "The Use of Health Services by Women with HIV Infection". *Health Services Research* 28: 543-561.

Henderson, S. (1992) "HIV and Drugs: Handy Hints for Women" in O'Hare *et al* (eds) *The Reduction of Drug Related Harm*. Routledge: London.

Henderson, P. (1996) "Living with the Virus: Perspectives from HIV-Positive Women in London" in Dorn, N., S. Henderson and N. South (Eds) *Aids: Women, Drugs and Social Care.* Falmer Press: London.

Hepburn, M. (1993) "Drug Use in Pregnancy". British Journal of Hospital Medicine. 49(1):51-55.

Hepburn, M. (1996) "Drug Use in Pregnancy". *Druglink*. July/August:12-14. Institute for the Study of Drug Dependence: London.

Hodgins, D. El Guebaly, N and Addington, J. (1997) "Treatment of Substance Abusers: Single or Mixed Gender Programmes". *Addiction* 92(7):805-812.

Ho Kong Wai, B., Singh, S., and S.L. Varma (1996) "HIV Infection in Females Dependent on Drugs". *Addiction* 91(3) 435-438.

Hser, Y., Anglin, M. and W. McGlothin (1987) "Sex Differences in Addict Careers: 1. Initiation of Use". *American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse* 13 (1&2) 33-57.

Hulse, G.K *et al* (1998) "Assessing the Relationship between Maternal Opiate Use and Neonatal Mortality". *Addiction* 93(7):1088-1042.

Hunt, S.M et al (1986) Measuring Health Status. Croom Helm: London.

Hunter, G.M and A. Judd (1998) "Women Injecting Drug Users in London: The Extent and Nature of Their Contact with Drug and Health Services". *Drug and Alcohol Review*. 17: 267-276.

Hutchinson, L. *et al* (1995) "A Comparison of Attendance for Drug Misuse to Dublin Accident and Emergency Departments 1985-1993". *Irish Medical Journal* 88 (2) 56-57.

Irmgard, V. (1999) "Research Orientation in Gender Specific Psychological Care for Heroin Users". *Paper Presented at the International Symposium on Heroin Assisted Treatment for Dependent Drug Users*. Bern: Switzerland.

Jenkinson, C et al "Measuring Medical Outcomes: An Overview" in Measuring Health and Medical Outcomes, (eds) C. Jenkinson. UCL Press:

Jenkinson, C (1997) Assessment and Evaluation of Health and Medical Care. Open University Press: Buckingham.

Johnson, Z., et al (1994) "Prevalence of HIV and Associated Risk Behaviour in Attendences at a Dublin Needle Exchange". *Addiction* 89:5:603-607.

Kasl, S.V and S. Cobb (1966). "Health Behaviour: Illness Behaviour and Sick Role Behaviour II. Archives of Environmental Health. 12(4):531-541.

Keenan E, Dorman A, and O'Connor J.(1993) "Six Year Follow-up of 45 Pregnant Opiate Addicts". *Irish Journal of Medical Science* 162:7:252-255.

Keenan, E and J. Barry (1999) "Managing Drug Misuse in General Practice". *British Medical Journal* 319:1497.



Klee et al (1990) "Factors Associated with Risk Behaviour Among Injecting Drug Users". *Aids Care.* 2:2:133-145.

Klee, H (1993) "HIV Risks for Women Drug Injectors: Heroin and Amphetamine Users Compared". *Addiction.* 88: 1055-1062.

Kleun J, Schwebke J. and Holmes K. (1994) "The Validity of Injecting Drug Users Self-Report About Sexually Transmitted Disease: A Comparison of Survey and Seriological Data". *Addiction.* 88:673-80.

Klein, R.D (1983) "How To Do What We Do: Thoughts about Feminist Methodology", in Bowles, G and R. D Klein (eds), *Theories of Women's Studies*. Routledge and Kegan Paul: London. 88-104.

Kokkevi, A. and C. Stefanis (1993). "Psychiatric Comorbidity in Substance Abuse" in Stefanis, C, Hippius, H. and D. Naber (Eds). *Research in Addiction*. 2:59-68.

Kreuger, R.A (1988) Focus Groups: A Practical Guide for Applied Research. Sage Publications: London.

Lee, R. (1993) Doing Research on Sensitive Topics. Sage Publications: London.

Lewis, S., Klee, H and M. Jackson (1995) "Illicit drug Users Experience of Pregnancy. An Exploratory Study". *Journal of Reproductive and Infant Psychology*. 13:219-227.

MacGregor, S (2001) "Women and the Health and Social Consequences of Drug Use: Implications for Policy and Practice". *Paper Presented at the Conference on Gender, Drugs and HIV.* Peoples Republic of China.

Magura et al (1989) "Determinants of Needle Sharing Among Intravenous Drug Users". American Journal of Public Health 79:4:459-462.

Maher, L (1997) Sexed Work: Gender, Race and Resistance in a Brooklyn Drug Market. Oxford University Press: Oxford.

Manderbaca, K., Lundberg, O and P. Martikainen (1999) "Do Risk Factors and Health Behaviours Contribute to Self-Ratings of Health?". *Social Science and Medicine*. 48: 1713-1720.

Marsden, J., et al "Psychiatric Symptoms among Clients Seeking Treatment for Drug Dependency". British Journal of Psychiatry. 2000:176:285-289.

Mathias, R (1998) "Linking Medical Care with Drug Abuse Treatment Systems, Tuberculosis Among HIV-Infected Drug Users". *NIDA Notes*. 13:3

May, T. (1993) Social Research: Issues, Methods and Process. Open University Press: Great Britain.

McElrath K, Chitwood D, Griffin D, and M. Comerford (1994) "The Consistency of Self-Reported HIV Risk Behaviour Among Injecting Drug Users". *American Journal of Public Health.* 84:12:1965-70.

McKeganey, N., Bloor, P., and H. Watson (1988) "Risks for Sharing Injecting Equipment". *British Medical Journal* 297:1474.

McKeganey, N., and M. Barnard (1991) "Drug Injectors' Risks for HIV" in (Ed) P. Aggelton., G. Hart, and P. Davies. The Falmer Press: London. *AIDS: Individual, Cultural and Policy Dimensions.*

Minkoff, HL et al (1999) "Prevalence and Incidence of Gynecologic Disorders among Women Infected with Human Immunodeficiency Virus". American Journal Obstetric Gynecology 180:824-836.

Moise, R., Reed, B. and V. Ryan (1982) "Issues in the Treatment of Heroin Addicted Women: A Comparison of Men and Women Entering Two Types of Drug Abuse Programmes". *International Journal of Addiction* 17(1): 109-139.

Mondanaro, J. (1989) "Community-Based AIDS Prevention Interventions: Special Issues of Women Intravenous Drug Users" in (Ed) C. Leukefled, R. Battjes, and Z., Amsel. *AIDS and Intravenous Drug Use: Community Intervention and Prevention*. Lexington Books: Lexington.

Moran R, O'Brien M, and P. Duff (1997) *Treated Drug Misuse in Ireland: National Report 1996*. The Health Research Board. Dublin.

Moran, R et al (1999). National Report on Drug Issues, Ireland 1999. Internal Document. The Health Research Board: Dublin.



Morrison, A. Elliott, L., and L. Gruer (1997) "Injecting Related Harm and Treatment Seeking Behaviour among IDU's". *Addiction* 92:1349-1352.

Morrison, C.I., Ruben, S.M and N.J Beeching (1995) "Female Sexual Health Problems in a Drug Dependency Unit". *International Journal StdAIDS*. 6 (3) 201-203.

Mulleady, G. and L. Sheer (1989) "Lifestyle Factors for Drug Users in Relation to Risks for HIV". *AIDS Care*, 1:45-50.

Mullen, L., and J. Barry (1999) Needle Exchange in the Eastern Health Board Region: An Analysis of First Attendees 1990-1997. Eastern Health Board: Dublin.

National Disease Surveillance Centre (2001) *HIV and AIDS in Ireland: Quarter 1 and 2, 2001 and Updated 2000 Figures.* Virus Reference Laboratory: University College Dublin.

Nettleton, S. (1995) The Sociology of Health and Illness. Cambridge: Polity Press.

Newcombe, R. (1992) "The Reduction of Drug Related Harm: A Conceptual Framework for Theory, Practice and Research" in O'Hare P, Newcombe R, Matthews A, Buning E, and Drucker E. (Eds). *The Reduction in Drug-Related Harm.* London: Routledge.

National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA) (ed) (1998) Drug Addiction Research and the Health of Women. Conference Summary Report. Rockville, Md.

Nurco, D., Wegner, N. and P. Stephenson (1982) "Female Narcotic Addiction: Changing Profile" *Focus on Women: Journal of Addiction and Health* 3(2):62-105.

O'Brien, M., Moran, R., Kelleher, T., and P.Cahill (2000) National Drug Treatment Reporting System, Statistical Bulletin: 1997 and 1998. The Health Research Board: Dublin.

O'Brien, M., Kelleher, T., and P.Cahill (2002) "Trends in Treated Drug Misuse in the Eastern Health Board Area 1996-1999". *Occasional Paper No.* 8. The Health Research Board: Dublin.

O'Brien, M., Kelleher, T., Cahill, P., Kelly, E, and J. Long (2003) "Trends in Treated Drug Misuse in the Republic of Ireland 1996-2000". *Occasional Paper No.* 9. The Health Research Board: Dublin.

O'Connor J, Stafford-Johnson S, and M. Kelly (1988) "A Review of the Characteristics and Treatment Progress of 45 Pregnant Opiate Addicts Attending the Irish National Drug Advisory and Treatment Centre Over A Two Year Period". *Irish Journal Medical Science*. 157:5:146-149.

O'Connor, A.M. (1995) *The Health Needs of Women Working in Prostitution in the Republic of Ireland.* Eastern Health Board: Dublin.

O'Gorman, A. (1999) No Room for Complacency: Families, Communities and HIV. Cairde: Dublin.

O'Higgins K, and Duff P. (1997) Treated Drug Misuse in Ireland: First National Report 1995. The Health Research Board: Dublin.

O'Neill, M., O'Connor, A.M., and P. O'Sullivan (1999). *Drug Using Women Working in Prostitution*. The Women's Health Project/Eastern Health Board: Dublin and European Intervention Project, AIDS Prevention for Prostitutes.

Oppenheimer, E. (1994) "Women Drug Misusers: A Case for Special Consideration" in J. Strang and M. Gossop (Eds) *Heroin Addiction and Drug Policy: The British System*. Oxford University Press: Oxford.

Paone D, Des Jarlais D, Gangloff R, Milliken J, and Friedman S. (1995) "Syringe Exchanges: IV Prevention, Key Findings and Future Direction". *International Journal Addiction*. 30(120): 1647-1683.

Payne, S. (1991) Women, Health and Poverty. Harvester Wheatsheaf: London.

Parker H, and Measham F. (1994) "Pick 'n' Mix: Changing Patterns of Illicit Drug Use Amongst 1990s Adolescents". *Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy*. 1:1:5-13.

Pearson, G. (1991) "Drug-Control Policies in Britain" in *Crime and Justice: A Review of Research* Vol 14. (Ed) M. Tonry. Chicago University Press: Chicago.



Pleace, N. and Quilgars, D. (1996). *Health and Homelessness in London: A Review*. King's Fund Publishing: London.

*

Power, R (1990) "Drug Using Trends and HIV Risk Behaviour" in Strang, J and G.V. Stimson (eds) *Aids and Drug Misuse*. Routledge: London.

Ramazanoglu, C (1992) "Methods of Working as a Research Team". *Women Risk & AIDS Project*. Paper 3. Tufnell Press: London.

Reed, B. (1987) "Developing Women-Sensitive Drug Dependence Treatment Services: Why So Difficult?". *Journal Psychoactive Drugs.* 19(2): 151-164.

Roberston, M (1991) "Homeless Women With Children: The Role of Alcohol and Other Drug Abuse". *American Psychologist*. 46:11:1198-1204.

Roche, A..M., Guray, C, and J.B Saunders (1991) "General Practitioners Experiences of Patients with Drug and Alcohol Problems". *British Journal of Addiction*. 86:263-275.

Rhodes, T. *et al* (1994) "Sexual Behaviour of Drug Injectors in London: Implications for HIV Transmission and HIV Prevention". *Addiction.* 89:1085-1096.

Rhodes, T. *et al* (1996) "Prevalence of Markers for Hepatitis B and HIV Among Drug Injectors in London: Injecting Careers, Positivity and Risk Behaviour". *Addiction*. 91(10)1457-87.

Rosenbaum M, and Murphy S. (1987) "Not the Picture of Health: Women on Methadone". *Journal Psychoactive Drugs*. 19(2):217-226.

Rosenbaum, M and K. Irwin (2000) "Pregnancy, Drugs and Harm Reduction" in Inciardi, J and L. Harrison (eds) *Harm Reduction: National and International Perspectives*. Sage Publications: London.

Rosenstock, L and Cullen, M (1986) Clinical Occupational Medicine. Saunders: London.

Ross, H.E "The Prevalence of Psychiatric Disorders in Patients with Alcohol and Other Drug Problems" *Archive of General Psychiatry*. 1988:45:1023-1031.

Sabo, D., Kupers, T.A and W. London (2001). Prison Masculinities. Temple University Press: US.

Sanchez J, and Johnson B. (1987) "Women and the Drugs-Crime Connection: Crime Rates Among Drug Abusing Women at Riker Island". *Journal of Psychoactive Drugs*. 19:205-216.

Saxon et al (1994) "Longitudinal Changes in Injecting Behaviour in a Cohort of Injecting Drug Users" in *Addiction* 89:191-202.

Scheuer, M. A et al (1991) Homelessness and the Utilisation of Acute Hospital Services in London. Kings Fund Hospital: London.

Selwyn, P.A., Alcabes, P., Hartel, D., Buono, D *et al* (1992) "Clinical Manifestations and Predictors of Disease Progression in Drug Users with human Immunodeficiency Virus Infection. *N. England Journal of Medicine*. 327 (24): 1697-1703.

Siegel K, and Bauman L. (1986) "Methodological Issues in AIDS-Related Research" in Feldman D, and Johnson T. (Eds). *The Social Dimensions of AIDS: Methods and Theory*. New York: Praeger. 15-39.

Single, E. (1995) "Defining Harm Reduction". Drug and Alcohol Review. 14: 287-290.

Solar, E. and G, Dammann (1980) "Women in Crisis: Drug Use and Abuse". *Focus on Women: International Journal of Addiction and Health* (4) 227-241.

Smith (1979) "A Sociology for Women" in J. Sherman and E. Beck (eds) *Theories of Womens Stories*. Routledge and Kegan Paul: London.

Smith, M., McGee, H., Shannon, W. and T. Holohan (2001). *One Hundred Homeless Women: Health Status and Health Service Use of Homeless Women.* Health Services Research Centre, Department of Psychology & Department of General Practice, Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland and the Eastern Regional Health Authority.



Smyth, B., Keenan, E., Dorman, A., and J. O' Connor (1994) "Gender Difference in Needle Sharing Behaviour Patterns". *Addiction* 89(1) 96-97.

Smyth, R., Keenan, E., Dorman, A., and J.O' Connor (1995) "Hepatitis C Infection Among Injecting Drug Users Attending the National Drug Treatment Centre". *Irish Journal of Medical Science*. 164 (6):267-268.

Smyth, B., Keenan, E., and JJ. O'Connor (1998) "Bloodborne Viral Infection in Irish Injecting Drug Users". *Addiction*. 93(11): 1649-1656.

Smyth, B., Keenan, E., and J.J. O'Connor (2000) "Assessment of Hepatitis C Infection in Injecting Drug Users attending an Addiction Treatment Clinic". *Irish Journal of Medical Science* 169(2): 129-132.

Strang, J and G. V Stimson (1990) "The Impacts of HIV: Forcing the Process of Change". Aids and Drug Misuse. Routledge: London.

Swift, W and J. Copeland (1998) "Treatment Needs of Women with Alcohol and Other Drug Problems: Experiences and Views of Australian Treatment Personnel". *Drug and Alcohol Review*. 17:59-67'.

Swift, W., Copeland, J and W. Hall (1996) "Characteristics of Women With Alcohol and Other Drug Problems; Findings Of An Australian National Survey". *Addiction*. 91:1141-1150.

Taylor, A (1993) Women Drug Users: An Ethnography of a Female Injecting Community. Clarendon Press: Oxford.

Telfer, I., and C. Clulow (1990) "Heroin Misusers: What they think of their General Practioners". *British Journal of Addiction* 85:137-140.

Thorn, B and Green, A (1996) "Services For Women: The Way Forward" in Harrison, L (ed) Alcohol Problems in the Community. Routledge: London.

Van den Hoek *et al* (1989) "HIV Infection and STD in Drug Addicted Prostitutes in Amsterdam: Potential For Heterosexual HIV Transmission" *Genitourinary Medicine* 65:146-150.

Vogt, I (2000) "Gender Differences in Help- Seeking Behaviour of Heroin Users in Germany" in Springer, A., and Uhl, A., (edsj Patterns of Use- Patterns of Reponse, Proceedings on the 10th Annual ESSD Conference on Drug use and Drug Policy in Europe. Studien Verlag: Germany.

Wald, R., Harvey, M. and J. Hibbard (1995) "A Treatment Model for Women Substance Users". *Journal of Addictions*, Volume 30:7: 881-888.

Ward, M and J. Barry (2001) "Opiate Related Deaths in Dublin ". *Irish Journal of Medical Science*. 170(1):35-37.

Warner-Smith, M et al (2000) "Heroin Overdose: Prevalence, Correlates, Consequences and Interventions". Research Monograph No. 46. National Drug and Alcohol Research Centre: Sydney.

Wells, D. Y and J. Jackson (1992) "HIV and Chemical Dependent Women: Recommendations for Appropriate Health Care and Drug Treatment Services". *International Journal of Addictions* 27(5):571-585.

Wilcox, R (2001) "Gynecological Considerations Are More Important Now that HIV Therapies Have Improved". *HIV Clinician*. Spring: 13:2.

Wiley, M and B. Merriman (1996) Women and Health Care in Ireland. Oak Tree Press: Dublin.

WHO Collaborative Study Group (1993) "An International Comparative Study of HIV Prevalence and Risk Behaviour among Drug Injectors in 13 Cities". *Bulletin on Narcotics* Vol XLV: 1:19-47.

Woods, M (2000) "Women, Drug Use and Parenting in Dublin: The Views of Professional Workers in the Drug Treatment and Social Work Fields" in Springer, A., and Uhl, A., (edsj *Patterns of Use- Patterns of Reponse, Proceedings on the 10th Annual ESSD Conference on Drug use- and Drug Policy in Europe*. Studien Verlag: Germany.

Zolopa AR, Hahn JA, Gorter R, *et al.* (1994) "HIV and Tuberculosis Infection in San Francisco's Homeless Adults: Prevalence and Risk Factors in a Representative Sample". *JAMA*. 272:455-461.

